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!ŘƻǇǘŜŘ ōȅ IƻŦǎŜǘƘ .ƛƻ/ŀǊŜ !{!Ωǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ 16th March 2018 
Hofseth BioCare ASA is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance that will 

strengthen confidence in the company among shareholders, capital market and among other stakeholders, 

thereby contributing to the greatest possible value creation over time. The aim of corporate governance is to 

regulate the roles of shareholders, board and management beyond what is required by legislation. 

The company reports in accordance with the recommendation of 30 October 2014 "the Recommendations" ) 

issued by the Norwegian Corporate Governance (NUES ) . The rules on the continuing obligations of listed 

companies at www.oslobors.no and guidelines are available on www.nues.no 

Compliance is based on a "comply or explain" principle, which means that the company must comply with all 

recommendations or explain why they have chosen an alternative approach to specific recommendations. 

The following explains the company's compliance with the 15 sections and addresses the additional 

requirements set out in the Accounting Act § 3-3 b. 

Any deviation from the Code of Conduct will be explained under the appropriate section. 

This report is part of the company's annual report. The report is also available on Hofseth BioCare`s website 

www.hofsethBioCare.no, along with more information about the company's business. 

The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility to ensure that the company is practicing good corporate 

governance. The company's Board of Directors and management conducts a thorough review and assessment 

of its principles of corporate governance annually. 

Hofseth BioCare is a Norwegian public limited company and is listed on Oslo Axess. The Norwegian Accounting 

Act § 3-3b and the rules on the Continuing Obligations for stock listed companies Section 7 impose a duty on 

the Company to issue in the annual report its principles and practice for corporate governance. 

 

Values and guidelines for business ethics and corporate social responsibility are essential to the Company's 

competitiveness. 

Hofseth BioCare is committed to transparency about it's guidelines for management of the Company. This 

strengthens the value creation, builds internal and external confidence and promotes a code of ethics and 

sustainable approach to business. 

Hofseth BioCare is founded on the core value of sustainability and optimal use of natural resources. The 

Company aspires to create a healthy company culture based on these core values. The Board of Directors has 

approved the Code of Conduct for business ethics and corporate social responsibility. The Company's 

customization of the Code of Conduct and the internal guidelines ensures a proper division of roles and 

responsibilities and well-functioning cooperation among the Company's shareholders, the Board of Directors 

and its management, and that the business is subject to satisfactory control. An appropriate distribution of 

roles, effective collaboration and satisfactory control contributes to the best possible value creation over time, 

for the benefit of it's owners and other stakeholders. 

The company's code of Ethics deals with the handling of impartiality, conflicts of interest, relationships with 

customers and suppliers, relations with the media, insider trading and relevant financial interests of a personal 

nature. 
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The core of the concept of CSR is the company's responsibility for people, communities and environment 

affected by operations and typically addresses 

¶ HUMAN RIGHTS 

which means that the company carries out its operations in accordance with the international 
agreements and conventions that are fundamental rights of every human being, regardless of race, 
gender, religion or other status. 
 

¶ ANTI-CORRUPTION 
which means that the organization instructed that it should not be demanded, receive or accept an 
offer of an improper advantage in connection with a position, office or assignment. 
 

¶ EMPLOYEE RELATIONS 
where AMLs provisions concerning employment contracts, working hours, insurance, pension, 
vacation, sick monitoring etc. embodied in internal guidelines and be followed through the 
organization. The employees are organized, and there is established good communication channels 
between employee representatives and management. 
 

¶ HSE 
where Health, Environment and Security in the company's overall focus. Through guidelines and 
incorporate routines that safety inspections, preventive maintenance routines, etc. involves all the 
employees. A safety delegate system is implemented in the organization. 
 

¶ DISCRIMINATION 
where the Company endeavors to ensure that there shall be no discrimination or unequal treatment 
which has its basis in individuals, genders, ethnicities, nationalities, religious communities and the like. 
The employees are represented by both sexes with both Norwegian and foreign workers. 
 

¶ ENVIRONMENTAL 
which is a key factor in the company's social responsibility. Emissions to water and air are 
continuously monitored. Regular meetings are held with local authorities and municipal bodies. 
 

 

The aim of Hofseth BioCare is defined in the Company's Articles of Association, which among other states: 

¶ Hofseth BioCare's business is development, manufacturing, marketing and sale of marine 
ingredients such as oil, calcium and protein products, as well as cooperation with, and the 
participation and ownership in businesses engaged in related businesses. 

¶ ¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ ŘƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ǎƘŀƭƭ ƘŀǾŜ from 3 to 10 members according to the resolution of 
the General Meeting. 

¶ The company shall have an audit committee. 
 

Please refer to Articles of Association for Hofseth BioCare Hofseth that was last modified October 25 2016, 

and is available on the company's website www.hofsethbiocare.no  

 

Hofseth BioCare will have a level equity which is appropriate to its objectives, strategy and risk profile, and the 

Board of Directors will continually to assess the capital situation. 

http://www.hofsethbiocare.no/
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The Company's Board of Directors and management have used the following instruments to have a customized 

equity at any given time 

¶ Private placement/capital increase 

¶ Shareholder loans (subordinated loan) that can be seen as part of the company's equity 

¶ Sales-enhancing and cost-cutting measures 
 

Per December 31 2017, the Group had an equity of MNOK 37.1, corresponding to an equity ratio of 20.1 %. 

The Board is considering an equity share of around 25% to be at a satisfactory level in terms of proper equity. 

The company's long-term debt financing have financial covenants of 25 % equity including subordinated loans. 

The main shareholder (s) have, if necessary, issued subordinated loans to ensure that the company is not in 

violation of the covenant requirements of the banks. The Board of Directors will at any time consider various 

instruments to ensure that the company has sufficient equity, including a authorization granted by the General 

Meeting on 29 May 2017 for the issuance of up to approximately 23.3 million new shares, valid at the time of 

publishing the annual report. 

 

Hofseth BioCare aims to give its shareholders a competitive rate of return based on the company's earnings. 

The dividend will be considered in the context of Hofseth BioCare's financial position, loan terms and capital 

requirements for existing and new projects. 

 

Mandates granted of the Board of Directors, either to increase the company's share capital or to buy its own 

shares, will generally be limited to defined purposes and usually limited in time to the date of the next 

annual general meeting. 

Per 31. December 2017 the Board of Directors in Hofseth BioCare holds the following authorization to increase 

the company's share capital by issuing new shares with a total face value of up to NOK 23,349,975, equivalent 

to 23,349,975shares, each with a nominal value of NOK 1.00. 

The authorization can be used in connection with the issuance of shares to investors who is considered to have 

strategic importance for the company as well as to repair any issues as a result of such, or any other private 

equity issues. 

In accordance with this power of attorney to the Board of Directors will also be able to offer shares to the 

people or companies who are not shareholders of the company. Existing shareholders ' preferential right may 

be waived. 

The Board of Directors is given the authority to change the Articles of Assosiation stating the share capital size 

in accordance with the shares the Board decides under this authorization. The authorization was granted at 

the Ordinary General Assembly May 29 2017 and applies until June 30 2018. 

Hofseth BioCare has one class of shares. Each share in the Company carries one vote.  

All shareholders shall be treated on an equal basis. The shareholders shall not be exposed to differential 

ǘǊŜŀǘƳŜƴǘ ǘƘŀǘ ƭŀŎƪǎ ŀ ŦŀŎǘǳŀƭ ōŀǎƛǎ ƛƴ IƻŦǎŜǘƘ .ƛƻ/ŀǊŜΩǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΩ ŎƻƳƳƻƴ ƛƴǘŜǊŜǎǘΦ 
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Included in the rules of procedures for the Board, there are guidelines for how the members of the Board 

and the CEO should act in discussions or decisions of issues in which have a special personal importance to 

them, or to any closely related party of the member in question. 

¢ǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴǎ ǿƛǘƘ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎ ŀǊŜ ƎƻǾŜǊƴŜŘ ōȅ ƳŀǊƪŜǘ ǘŜǊƳǎ ŀƴŘ ŎƻƴŘƛǘƛƻƴǎ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ ǘƘŜ άŀǊƳΩǎ 

ƭŜƴƎǘƘ ǇǊƛƴŎƛǇƭŜέΦ 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ŀƴŘ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜƛǊ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǇŀǊǘƛŜǎΣ ŀǎ ǿŜƭƭ ŀǎ ŀƭƭ ŎƻƳǇanies in the Hofseth 

group, including Roger Hofseth AS and Hofseth International AS, will be related parties to Hofseth BioCare.  

Transactions with related parties are further described in notes to the annual accounts. 

 

All shares in Hofseth BioCare are freely transferable without any limitations in its Articles of Assosiation. 

 

Through the general meeting the shareholders exercise the highest authority in Hofseth BioCare. All 

shareholders are entitled to submit items to the agenda, meet, speak and vote at general meetings in 

accordance with the provisions of the Norwegian Public Limited Companies Act. The Board of Hofseth BioCare 

strives to ensure that the general meetings are en effective forum for communication between shareholders 

and the Board, and the Board shall take steps to ensure that as many shareholders as possible may exercise 

their rights by participating in the general meetings. 

The annual general meeting is held each year before the end of May. Extraordinary general meetings may be 

called by the Board at any time. IƻŦǎŜǘƘ .ƛƻ/ŀǊŜΩǎ ŀǳŘƛǘƻǊ ƻǊ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ǊŜǇǊŜǎŜƴǘƛƴƎ ŀǘ ƭŜŀǎǘ ŦƛǾŜ ǇŜǊŎŜƴǘ 

of the total share capital may demand an extraordinary General Meeting to be called. 

The notice calling the annǳŀƭ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎ ƛǎ ƳŀŘŜ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ŀƴŘ ǎŜƴǘ ǘƻ 

shareholders with known addresses by post no later than 21 days prior to the date of the meeting. Article 9 in 

ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴǎ ǎǘŀǘŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŘƻŎǳƳŜƴǘǎ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ matters on the agenda of a general 

ƳŜŜǘƛƴƎ Ŏŀƴ ōŜ ƳŀŘŜ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ǊŀǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ ōŜƛƴƎ ǎŜƴǘ ǘƻ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ōȅ ǇƻǎǘΦ ¢ƘŜ 

supporting documentation will be available at the same date as the notice calling the meeting and provides all 

the necessary information for shareholders to form a view on the matters to be considered. The deadline for 

registration for the annual General Meeting is at the latest 3 days before the general meeting takes place. 

Shareholders who cannot attend the general meetings in person shall be given the opportunity to vote, and 

the Company shall provide information and nominate an available person who may vote on behalf of the 

shareholders in this respect. 

The general meeting elects the members and deputy members of the Board, determines the remuneration of 

ǘƘŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘΣ ŀǇǇǊƻǾŜǎ ǘƘŜ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘǎΣ ŘƛǎŎǳǎǎŜǎ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ƎǳƛŘŜƭƛƴŜǎ ƻƴ 

ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǊŜƳǳƴŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ŀƴŘ ŘŜŎƛŘŜǎ ǎǳŎƘ ƻǘƘŜǊ ƳŀǘǘŜǊǎ ǿƘƛŎƘ ōȅ ƭŀǿ ƻǊ IƻŦǎŜǘƘ .ƛƻ/ŀǊŜΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ 

Association are to be transacted at the General Meeting. 

The Board of Directors, the Nomination Committee and the auditor's attendance at the General Meeting is 

waived from the recommendation if a review of the agenda, the availability and physical location would 

suggest this. Under the General Meeting for the adoption of the accounts for 2016 were not all members who 

participated. The auditor did participate. 
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The General Meeting has chosen an Nomiation Committee to secure the objectivity regarding the 

shareholders interests. 

The company shall have a nomination committee consisting of 3 members to be elected by the General 

Meeting. The majority of the members of the nomination committee shall be independent of the board of 

directors and the management. The members of the nomination committee shall be elected for terms of two 

years. 

The nomination committee shall propose candidates for the board of directors and the nomination committee, 

including remuneration to the board of directors and the members of the nomination committee. Members 

of the Nomination Committee are Ola Holen, Lennart Clausen and Roger Hofseth. 

Ola Holen became interim chairman on September 15, 2017 and Roger Hofseth became CEO 14 August 2017, 

and is today not independent of the board and management. New members of the election committee will be 

elected at the Annual General Meeting in 2018. 

The remuneration to the Nominating Committee shall be determined by the General Meeting. 

The nomination committee shall evaluate the need for changes of the board and the nomination committee. 

To have the best possible basis for their deliberations, the committee should be in contact with the directors 

and the CEO. 

Furthermore, the Nomination Committee should consult relevant shareholders for nominations and for 

rooting its decision. The boardΩǎ evaluation report (ref. Paragraph 9 of its work), should be treated separately 

by the Nomination Committee. 

The recommendations of the nomination committee shall be reasoned. 

 

The Board of Hofseth BioCare includes four members, of which two women, in addition to one deputy board 

ƳŜƳōŜǊΣ ǿƘƛŎƘ ŎƻǊǊŜǎǇƻƴŘǎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴǎ {ŜŎǘƛƻƴ рΣ ǎǘŀǘƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ 

should have from three to ten members. 

aŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ŀǊŜ ǎŜƭŜŎǘŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ƭƛƎƘǘ ƻŦ ŀƴ ŜǾŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƴŜŜŘǎ ŦƻǊ ŜȄǇŜǊǘƛǎŜΣ ŎŀǇŀŎƛǘȅ 

and balanced decision-making, and with the aim of ensuring that the Board of Directors can operate 

independently of any special interests and function effectively as a collegiate body. 

¢ƘŜ ƳŀƧƻǊƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜ ƛƴŘŜǇŜƴŘŜƴǘ ƻŦ IƻŦǎŜǘƘ .ƛƻ/ŀǊŜΩǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ Ƴŀƛƴ 

business connections. At least two of the members of the Board shall be independent of the /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ƴŀƛƴ 

shareholder(s). The Board of Directors does not include executive personnel. 

Interim chairman of the Board Ola Holen is employed in one of ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƭŀǊƎŜǎǘ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊs. Mr. Holen 

ƛǎ ŀƭǎƻ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ǘƻ ǎŜǾŜǊŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ Ŏƻnnections and is thus not considered independent. 

The board members Christoph Baldegger, Torill Standal Eliassen are considered independent of management, 

ōǳǎƛƴŜǎǎ ŎƻƴƴŜŎǘƛƻƴǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ƴŀƛƴ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎΦ 

Henriette Godø Heggdal is an employee of the company as Lab manager, however, is the shareholder elected 

representative to the Board of Directors. 
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The term of office for members of the Board of Directors is two years. An updated overview of the members 

of the Board of Directors of Hofseth BioCare, including their employment, education and professional 

ōŀŎƪƎǊƻǳƴŘ ƛǎ ǇǊƻǾƛŘŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ website www.hofsethbiocare.no.  

Members of the Board of Directors is encouraged to own shares in the company 

The General Meeting elects the Chariman of The Board of Directors. 

 

The Board of Directors has the overall responsibility for the management of Hofseth BioCare. This includes a 

responsibility to supervise ŀƴŘ ŜȄŜǊŎƛǎŜ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ 

CǳǊǘƘŜǊƳƻǊŜΣ ǘƘƛǎ ƛƴŎƭǳŘŜǎ ŘŜǾŜƭƻǇƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ŀƴŘ ƳƻƴƛǘƻǊƛƴƎ ƛǘǎ ƛƳǇƭŜƳŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴΦ Lƴ ŀŘŘƛǘƛƻƴΣ 

the Board of Directors exercises supervision responsibilities to ensure that the company manages its business 

and assets and carries out risk management in a prudent and satisfactory manner. The Board of Directors is 

also responsible for the appointment of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). 

The board has its own mandidate. 

In accordance with the provisions of Norwegian company law, the proceedings and responsibilities of the 

Board of Directors are governed by a set of rules of procedures. The Chairman of the Board is responsible for 

ensuring that the work of the Board of Directors is carried out in an effective and proper manner in 

accordance with legislation. 

The Board of Directors has issued a mandate for the work of the CEO. There is a clear division of 

responsibilities between the Board of Directors and the CEO. The CEO is responsible for the operational 

management of the group. 

 

 

¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ Ƙŀǎ ŀŘƻǇǘŜŘ ŀƴ ŀǳŘƛǘ ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ όǘƘŜ ά!ǳŘƛǘ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜέύ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ 

/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ {ŜŎǘƛƻƴ с ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ /ƻŘŜΦ There is a speciel instructions for the Audit 

Committee. 

!ŎŎƻǊŘƛƴƎ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ {ŜŎǘƛƻƴ сΣ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ŘŜŎƛŘŜǎ ǘƘŜ ƳŜƳōŜǊǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ 

committee. The members of the Audit Committiee are: 

¶ Torill Standal Eliassen(leader) 
 

The Board of Directors has adopted a compensation ŎƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜ όǘƘŜ ά!ǳŘƛǘ /ƻƳƳƛǘǘŜŜέύ ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ ǿƛǘƘ 

/ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ !ǊǘƛŎƭŜǎ ƻŦ !ǎǎƻŎƛŀǘƛƻƴ {ŜŎǘƛƻƴ 11. The members of the compensation Committiee are: 

¶ Christoph Baldegger 

¶ Roger Hofseth 

¶ Torill Standal Eliassen 
 

 

http://www.hofsethbiocare.no/
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The Board of Hofseth BioCare shall ensure that the Company has sound internal control and systems for risk 

management that are appropriate in relation ǘƻ ǘƘŜ ŜȄǘŜƴǘ ŀƴŘ ƴŀǘǳǊŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ ¢ƘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ 

ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ŀƭǎƻ ŜƴŎƻƳǇŀǎǎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ ǾŀƭǳŜǎΣ ŜǘƘƛŎŀƭ ƎǳƛŘŜƭƛƴŜǎ ŀƴŘ 

guidelines for corporate social responsibility.

Risk management and internal control is performed through various processes within the Company, both 

though the Board of Directors work and the operational management of the Company. 

The Board of Directors receives on a regular basis reports from management outlining the financial and 

operational performance of the Company.The administration's reporting should be based on input acc. key 

reporting from the chain of command, as updated accounting and valuation of accounting items, including 

relevant operating data of importance for the assessment of accounting records. Monthly operating reports 

shall be evaluated and decided by the overall management of the group. 

There must be sufficient qualified resources to carry out appropriate reports which will contribute to decision 

support and continuous control of the Group's performance. 

In connection with the budget work and approval of the budget, the Board of Directors evaluates the internal 

control systems and the most important risk factors that the Company may be confronted with. In view of the 

CompŀƴȅΩǎ ƎǊƻǿǘƘ ǎǘǊŀǘŜƎȅ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ Ǉŀȅǎ ǇŀǊǘƛŎǳƭŀǊ ŀǘǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ŜƴǎǳǊƛƴƎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ 

ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎ ŀǇǇƭȅ ǘƻ ŀƭƭ ŀǎǇŜŎǘǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ The Board of Directors also considers the need 

for any further measures in relation to the identified risk factors. 

Lƴ ƭƛƴŜ ǿƛǘƘ b¦9{Σ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ Ƙŀǎ ŀŘƻǇǘŜŘ ƎǳƛŘŜƭƛƴŜǎ ǘƘŀǘ ŜƴŎƻƳǇŀǎǎ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎƻǊǇƻǊŀǘŜ 

and ethical values and corporate social responsibility, cf. Section 1 (Code of Ethics). 

The preparation of interim reports and annual reports shall be in accordance with Norwegian and international 

principles for accounting and as further set out in the rules of procedure for Board of Directors. The company 

uses the hiring of external IFRS expertise for ongoing consultation around current issues and the preparation 

of quarterly and annual reports. 

The Group's control environment is assessed as satisfactory. The Group operates with a small accounting / 

controlling department, which could limit financial internal control as a result of limited opportunity for sharing 

of accounting tasks. As a result, the share of the payroll functions outsourced to external accounting firm. 

Operative internal control is safeguarded through established procedures and guidelines to be followed up 

through line management and management reporting. Likewise, continuous risk analysis and control activities 

are executed. The Board believes that the scope and level of the said areas is satisfactory to the Group's size 

and complexity. 

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Committee and together with its independent auditor, carries out an 

ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ǊŜǾƛŜǿ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ƴƻǎǘ ƛƳǇƻǊǘŀƴǘ ŀǊŜŀǎ ƻŦ ŜȄǇƻǎǳǊŜ ǘƻ Ǌƛǎƪ ŀƴŘ ƛǘǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ 

arrangements. 

The Board of Directors provides an account in the annual reǇƻǊǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ Ƴŀƛƴ ŦŜŀǘǳǊŜǎ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƛƴǘŜǊƴŀƭ 

ŎƻƴǘǊƻƭ ŀƴŘ Ǌƛǎƪ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘ ǎȅǎǘŜƳǎ ŀǎ ǘƘŜȅ ǊŜƭŀǘŜ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǊŜǇƻǊǘƛƴƎΦ 

 

 

¢ƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŜƴǎŀǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ǎƘŀƭƭ ǊŜŦƭŜŎǘ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘΩǎ ǊŜǎǇƻƴǎƛōƛƭƛǘȅΣ ŜȄpertise, time commitment and the 

ŎƻƳǇƭŜȄƛǘȅ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎΦ 
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The remuneration paid to the members of the Board will be decided by the general meeting. The remuneration 

paid to the members of the committees will be decided by the general meeting having considered proposals 

by the Board in line with the Code. Information about the fee paid to the Board and committees is stated in 

the annual report. 

There existed consultantcy agreement between the company and the Chairman of the Board up until he 

became CEO. The agreement was approved by the Board of Directors.  

There is an existing agreement at the board may ise in connection with the issuance of shares to directors and 

employees of the Company. In addition to moderate board remuneration it was considered that options are 

the most appropriate way to honor boardmembers. 

 

The Board of Directors prepares guidelines for the remuneration of the executive personnel. The guidelines 

are communicated to the annual general meeting. ¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ-related remuneration of the 

ŜȄŜŎǳǘƛǾŜ ǇŜǊǎƻƴƴŜƭ ŀǊŜ ƭƛƴƪŜŘ ǘƻ ǾŀƭǳŜ ŎǊŜŀǘƛƻƴ ŦƻǊ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŜŀǊƴƛƴƎǎ ǇŜǊŦƻǊƳŀƴŎŜ 

over time and the Company strives to ensure that its arrangements are in line with the guidelines. 

 

IƻŦǎŜǘƘ .ƛƻ/ŀǊŜΩǎ ƛƴŦƻǊƳŀǘƛƻƴ ǇƻƭƛŎȅ ǎƘŀƭƭ ōŜ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ƻǇŜƴƴŜǎǎ ŀƴŘ Ŝǉǳŀƭ ǘǊŜŀǘƳŜƴǘ ƻŦ ŀƭƭ ǎƘŀǊŜƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ ŀƴŘ 

the Company has resolved to comply with the Oslo Børs Code of Practice for Reporting IR Information. 

Hofseth BioCare strives to continuously publish all relevant information to the market in a timely, effective and 

non-ŘƛǎŎǊƛƳƛƴŀǘƻǊȅ ƳŀƴƴŜǊΦ !ƭƭ ǎǘƻŎƪ ŜȄŎƘŀƴƎŜ ŀƴƴƻǳƴŎŜƳŜƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƳŀŘŜ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ōƻǘƘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

website and on the Oslo Stock Exchange news website www.newsweb.no, and are also distributed to news 

agencies (via Thomson Reuters). 

The Company publishes its preliminary annual accounts by the end of February, together with its fourth 

quarter results.  

The complete annual report and accounts are made available to shareholders no later than three weeks prior 

to the annual general meeting, or, at the latest, by 30 April each year, which is the last date permitted by the 

Securities Trading Act. For 2016 the complete annual report and accounts were approved and published March 

31st 2017.  

Quarterly results are normally published at the latest within two months after the close of the quarter. 

¢ƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŎŀƭŜƴŘŀǊ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳƛƴƎ ȅŜŀǊ ƛǎ ǇǳōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ƴƻ ƭŀǘŜǊ ǘƘŀƴ 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ ом ƛƴ ŀŎŎƻǊŘŀƴŎŜ 

with the rules of the Oslo Stock Exchange. ¢ƘŜ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ŎŀƭŜƴŘŀǊ ƛǎ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǿŜōǎƛǘŜ ŀƴŘ ƻƴ 

the Oslo Stock Exchange website. 

Quarterly reports and ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ƳŀǘŜǊƛŀƭ ŀǊŜ ŀǾŀƛƭŀōƭŜ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ website, www.hofsethbiocare.no. 

 

It is a fundamental principle for Hofseth BioCare that all shareholders are treated equally. Openness in respect 

of take-over situation is considered to be important in ensuring equal treatment of all shareholders. 

The Company will not seek to hinder or obstruct take-ƻǾŜǊ ōƛŘǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ƻǊ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ ǳƴƭŜǎǎ 

there are particular reasons for this. 

http://www.hofsethbiocare.no/
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In the event of a take-ƻǾŜǊ ōƛŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜǎΣ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ƴƻǘ ŜȄŜǊŎƛǎŜ ƳŀƴŘŀǘes 

or pass any resolutions with the intention of obstructing the take-over bid unless this is approved by the 

general meeting following announcement of the bid. 

LŦ ŀƴ ƻŦŦŜǊ ƛǎ ƳŀŘŜ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜǎΣ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ƛǎǎǳŜ ŀ ǎtatement 

making a recommendation as to whether shareholders should or should not accept the offer. The Board of 

5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊΩǎ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƻŦŦŜǊ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ƳŀƪŜ ƛǘ ŎƭŜŀǊ ǿƘŜǘƘŜǊ ǘƘŜ ǾƛŜǿǎ ŜȄǇǊŜǎǎŜŘ ŀǊŜ ǳƴŀƴƛƳƻǳǎΣ ŀƴŘ ƛŦ ǘƘƛǎ 

is not the case it should explain the basis on which specific members of the Board of Directors have excluded 

ǘƘŜƳǎŜƭǾŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ǘƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎΩ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘΦ ¢ƘŜ .ƻŀǊŘ ƻŦ 5ƛǊŜŎǘƻǊǎ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜ ŀ Ǿŀƭǳŀǘƛƻƴ ŦǊƻƳ 

an independent expert. The valuation should include an explanation, and should be made public no later than 

at the time of the public disclosure of the statement. 

!ƴȅ ǘǊŀƴǎŀŎǘƛƻƴ ǘƘŀǘ ƛǎ ƛƴ ŜŦŦŜŎǘ ŀ ŘƛǎǇƻǎŀƭ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŀŎǘƛǾƛǘƛŜǎ ǎƘƻǳƭŘ ōŜ ŘŜŎƛŘŜŘ ōȅ ŀ ƎŜƴŜǊŀƭ 

meeting, except in cases where such decisions are required by law to be decided by the corporate assembly. 

 

EY is the auditor for Hofseth BioCares and is appointed by the AGM. 

The auditor shall submit to the audit committee the main features of the plan for the auditing work. 

Furthermore, the auditor shall at least once a year prepare a report containing its opinions on the Company's 

accounting policies, financial affairs and internal controls. The auditor participates in board meetings dealing 

with the consolidated accounts and the company. 

In meetings with the audit committee and the board auditor shall explain any material changes in the 

company's and Group's accounting policies, the assessment of the significant estimates and all significant 

matters that there has been disagreement about between the company and the auditor. The Board has annual 

meetings with the auditors without the group management teams are present. 

There are no written guidelines for executive management's use of auditors for services other than auditing. 

This differs from "Norwegian recommendation for corporate governance." The auditor explains, however, the 

audit committee for which services other than auditing provided the Group and company. The Audit 

Committee during the year responsible for approving the services auditors provide and the fees for these. The 

Audit Committee in conjunction with the annual report in 2017 received a written confirmation from the 

auditor that he satisfies established and legitimate independence requirements. 

It will be informed of the auditor's remuneration for auditing and other services in the Annual General 

Meeting. The auditor's remuneration disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements. 
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Hofseth BioCares ASA resumes production at the factory in Midsund after rebuilding in large parts of 2016. 

Syvde Eiendom AS buys the factory buildings at Midsund and Berkåk for NOK 80 million in March 2017. At the 

same time, 15-year lease agreements are signed at the buildings. The transaction entails substantial capital 

inflows for further production growth, product development and sales. 

HBC publishes a study conducted by the Norwegian School of Sport, which shows that ProGo® is 15 minutes 

faster than the corresponding whey protein to reach the maximum concentration of Leucine in the blood. 

Full-ǎŎŀƭŜ ǇǊƻŘǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ tŜǘDƻ ϰ ǎǘŀǊǘǎ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ŦŀŎǘƻǊȅ ŀǘ aƛŘǎǳƴŘΦ /ƻƴǘǊŀŎǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƛƴǎǘŀƴǘƭȅ ŜǎǘŀōƭƛǎƘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ 

entire volume of this product. 

The company signs a contract for rental production at the facility at Berkåk. This leads to increased utilization 

of the plant's capacity. 

The Board elects Roger Hofseth as new CEO of Hofseth BioCare ASA. Ola Holen is appointed as interim director 

of the board. 

Research shows that CalGo® is a calciumcrystalline hydroxyapatite calcium, which is considered one of the 

best forms of calcium in the market. This increases the interest of the product and HBC receives the first 

commercial order on CalGo®. 

The first phase of a major research project at Lucille Packard Hospital at Stanford University, USA is being 

completed. The project looks at possibilities for using ProGo® in the treatment of premature children and 

associated genetic effects. It has been decided that the second phase will be launched during Q2 2018. 

In the fourth quarter, Hofseth BioCare signed a new financing agreement for factoring and inventory financing. 

The agreement is up to NOK 35 million. 

 

After the year ended, HBC has made significant changes and adjustments in production to increase the yield 

on all product fractions. This work will continue beyond 2018 to reach design yields.  

Changes in the production and procedures at the Midsund factory have also led HBC to reach its target of 

zero emissions to the sea. 

Production at the Berkåk factory has increased during the second half of 2017 and the increase will continue 

in 2018. Changes in the management at the factory have also been made in 2018 and aim to reach 100 per 

cent capacity utilization during the second quarter of 2018. 

HBC has started discussions with the Midsund municipality for expanding the production facility at Midsund. 
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The Group generated gross operating revenues of NOK 118.5 million in 2017, up from NOK 20.2 million in 

2016. Similarly, the parent company had gross revenues of NOK 94.5 million in 2017, up from NOK 19.8 million 

in 2016. Estimated gain from the sale of business buildings is recognized as income of NOK 52.2 million in 

operating revenues for the Group and NOK 30.7 million in operating income in the parent company's accounts 

in 2017. Ordinary operating revenues are somewhat lower than expected mainly due to lower activity in the 

first half of the year. 

Operating costs, excluding depreciation and amortization amounted to NOK 108.8 million in 2017, compared 

with NOK 138.7 million in 2016. For the parent company operating expenses amounted to NOK 106.5 million 

in 2017 compared to NOK 133.9 million in 2016. This is a very positive development and expenses are largely 

cost of sales, salaries and other operating expenses. 

The Group posted an operating loss of NOK 11.2 million in 2017, compared with a loss of NOK 144.6 million in 

2016. Similarly, the parent company an operating loss of NOK 33.0 million compared to NOK 139.4million in 

2016. 

Net financial result was at NOK -5,3 million in 2017, compared with NOK -2.9 million in 2016.  Net financial for 

the parent company was respectively NOK -3.2 million and -6.8 million in 2017 and 2016. 

The Group generated a loss before tax of NOK 16.5 million in 2017, compared to a loss of NOK 147.5 million 

the year before.  For the parent company deficit before tax of NOK 36.2 million in 2017, compared to NOK 

146.2 million in 2016. 

The group had a tax expense of 0.0 million in 2017 against 0.0 million in taxes in 2016. The Group has not 

recognized deferred tax assets. Net loss for the year was NOK 16.5 million, compared with a net loss of 147.5 

million in 2016.The parent company had a net loss of NOK 36.2 million in 2017, compared to NOK 146.2 million 

in 2016. 

 

As of 31 December 2017, Hofseth BioCare had a total consolidated balance sheet of NOK 184.2 million, up 

from NOK 159.4 million at the end of 2016. The parent company had a balance sheet total of NOK 202.9 million 

compared to NOK 168.5 million in 2016. 

Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in 2017. At the end of 2017, deferred taxes amounted to NOK 

110.1 million for the group. Equity amounted to NOK 37.1 million at the end of 2017, which corresponds to an 

equity ratio of 20.1 %. By the end of 2016 the Group had a total equity of NOK 53.6 million and an equity ratio 

of 33.6%.  The parent company had an equity of NOK 37.7 million at the end of 2017 compared with NOK 73.8 

million the year before. Equity ratio was equivalent to 18.6% and 43.8% of the parent company. 

At 31 December 2017 the Group had cash and cash equivalents of NOK 42.1 million compared with NOK 16.2 

million at the end of last year.  The parent company had NOK 41.0 million in cash and cash equivalents at the 

end of 2017 against NOK 14.1 million  the year before. 

At the end of 2017 the group had NOK 44.3 million in long-term debt and NOK 37.1 million in short-term debt, 

compared with respectively NOK 45.6 million and NOK 28.8 million for the same period last year. The parent 

company had NOK 40.8 million and NOK 36.6 million respectively in long-term and short-term debt in 2017. 

By the end of 2016 NOK 37.7 million were non-current and NOK 27.7 million short-term. 
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Consolidated cash flow from operating activities amounted to NOK -25.5 million in 2017, compared with NOK 

-67.2 million the year before. The change in net cash flow is mainly due lower losses in 2017 and change in net 

working capital.  The parent company had a negative cash flow of NOK 28.0 million, compared to negative 

NOK 71.4 million the year before. 

Net cash flow from investing activities amounted to NOK 63.5 million, compared with NOK -42.1 million in 

2016 for the group. The parent company had cash flow from investing activities of NOK 35.3 million in 2017 

against NOK -41.7 million in 2016.  The change in both the group and the parent company is related to the sale 

of buildings to 80.0 million and 51.5 million respectively in 2017. 

Net cash from financing activities amounted to NOK -12.1 million in 2017, compared to NOK 96.6 million the 

year before. Corresponding figures for the parent company was NOK 19.6 million and NOK 98.7 million in 2017 

and 2016. Two private placements, as well as conversion of bonds were completed in 2016. Sales of buildings 

in the first quarter of 2017 laid the basis for reduced need for further significant financing activities in the rest 

of 2017. In the fourth quarter, the Group and the parent company signed a new financing agreement for 

factoring and inventory financing, up to 35 million. 

 

In accordance with the accounting act § 3-3a we confirm that the conditions for continued operations is 

present and that the annual report have been prepared based on the going conscern assumption. It should be 

noted that there is uncertainty considering the Group's ability to complete the development of Midsund 

factory and ability to sell products at sufficiently high prices. 

Sales of the buildings resulted in a significant improvement in liquidity in the first quarter of 2017. New 

financing agreement on factoring, inventory financing and the agreement on subordinated loan in the second 

half of 2017 ensure sufficient liquidity in the first part of 2018. Furthermore, the Board of Directors at the time 

of submission of the annual report have an authorization granted by the General Meeting on 29 May 2017 for 

the issue of up to approximately 23.3 million new shares. The authorization is intended to be used if the 

company has a need for additional equity and liquidity. 

The Company is in compliance with all requirements of our loan contracts and thus is not in violation of 

covenants as of 31.12.2017. The company still has negative results in the two months of 2018 but the Company 

is not in breach of the covenants on all loan contracts. Please refer to Note 17 for more information on 

conditions linked to the Group and the company's interest-bearing debt. 

It will be crucial for the group and the company to achieve a higher production and average price of their 

products in order to contribute to adequate profitability in the future. The company expects improvement in 

future results when prices and volumes for the individual products are established. 

The Board considers that it is essential that the group and the company manages to increase sales and improve 

earnings timely in relation to the need for liquidity in the Group and the Company. The board will keep the 

income and liquidity situation closely and continuously assess the need for additional liquidity. 

The group and the company's assets and values are present under the assumption of going concern.  In a 

potencioal forced sale related to liquidation, the value of some of the group's and the company's assets may 

be lower than the book value of the assets. The uncertainty primary relates to the value of intangible assets 

and rights, fixed assets, financial assets and investments, as well as the value of inventories. 
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In 2017 net loss for the parent company Hofseth BioCare ASA amount to NOK -36.2 million. The Board 

proposes the following allocation of the loss: 

Uncovered loss    36.2 million NOK 

Total      36.2 million NOK  

  

The industry in general is subject to several risk factors. Although these are particularly associated with the 

production process, also, conditions to external suppliers, customers, regulatory provisions, as well as general 

market trends, essential. 

All these risk factors may have a negative impact on the Group's business, financial condition, results and 

ability to execute projects. Some of the main risk factors facing the Group are briefly described below. We also 

refer to Note 13 "Financial Risk Management" in the accounts. 

 

The Biotechnology industry is characterized by integration and interdependence between the various steps in 

the manufacturing process. In Hofseth BioCare, there is a high degree of integration between the various 

production stages. Any interruption in one function can therefore result in much of, or all of the production to 

halt. Hofseth BioCare has installed extensive monitoring, and staff are working continuously on fine tuning and 

optimization of processes, to maximize operational uptime. Throughout 2016, significant improvements and 

expansions in production have been made that also includes better opportunities for continued production if 

one of the components stops. Ensuring continuity of operations at any interruption of critical functions has a 

high priority. 

A competent workforce is an important factor in the effort to ensure continuity of production. Hofseth BioCare 

staff has extensive experience and expertise in manufacturing technology, and new employees undergo 

continuous training and education in order to build up the necessary expertise. 

The Group's manufacturing operations are currently concentrated in two plants and downtime of these 

facilities can have a significant impact on the company's potential revenue. 

 

Hofseth BioCare reduce its market risk through geography- and market diversification. In addition to focusing 

on sales to Europe, North America and Asia, the company sells its products to various segments of the human 

nutrition market (sports nutrition, supplements and health foods), as well as to the market within nutrition to 

pet and feed industry. This strategy allows Hofseth BioCare to reduce its dependence on one market segment 

and geographical area. 

 

Hofseth BioCare trades in multiple currencies, mainly USD and EUR. Fluctuations in exchange rates can have 

an impact on the company's operations, results and financial position. Hofseth BioCare shall not engage in 

currency speculation, therefore hedge strategies will be implemented in 2018 based on the company's 

contractual, and thus predictable, revenue flows. 
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Changes in general interest rates could affect the company's financing and may have an impact on costs. 

Changes in interest rates may also affect the value of the company's assets. 

 

To minimize the risk of bad debts, the customers' creditworthiness is rated continuously. Claims on all 

customers are credit insured through the Norwegian Guarantee Institute for Export Credits AS (GIEK). 

Hofseth BioCare marketing and distribution strategy is to seek collaboration with medium to large business 

associates who have extensive knowledge of their markets. This will often mean well-established, solid 

companies with high credit ratings. 

 

The Group manages its liquidity risk by strive to have sufficient cash and bank schemes and lines of credit. 

Moreover, preparing and monitoring forecasts to keep track of actual cash flows. 

The group has had good liquid assets through 2017. Hofseth BioCares had cash and cash equivalents totaling 

42.1 million at the end of 2017 compared with 16.2 million at the same time last year. Cash and cash 

equivalents consist largely of cash and bank deposits. 

 

Although Hofseth BioCare seeks to reduce the impact of adverse events using its risk management system, a 

certain risk remains exist which can not be completely eliminated through preventive measures. The company 

covers such risks to a certain extent through the purchase of insurance. The Hofseth BioCare insurance 

portfolio is covering areas such as business interruption, damage to equipment and property, third party 

liability and other risks, as well as various types of personal insurance. 

 

Hofseth BioCare AS was founded in 2009, with the conversion to ASA in 2011.At the end of 2017 Hofseth 

BioCare Group had a total of 46 employees. 

 

The group's working environment is considered to be good. The Board emphasizes great importance and 

priority to reduce absenteeism and preventing injuries. No serious work-related accidents occurred during the 

year. Long-term absence 2017 was 1.1%, down from 5.9% in 2016, short-term absence was 1.7%, and 1.0% in 

2016. 

Absence was a total 2.8% in 2017. Risk analysis is the basis for measures to be taken to prevent damage or 

other adverse events to occur. This is a key element in Hofseth BioCare's work with HSE. Understanding of risk 

is essential to prevent dangerous situations. This will be dealt with continuously and HSE training is getting 

better. Risk analysis is a continuous work and are being followed up at all time. If HSE conformities occur, 

measures will be put in place to prevent such conformities from happening again. 
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HBC ASA has a partnership with Medi3 who takes care of occupational health in the Group. All employees will 

also in 2018 to undergo a medical examination and be given a health certificate. A working environment survey 

will be conducted, that will help and contribute to increased job satisfaction and working environment in the 

Group. 

HBC Berkåk AS has established an agreement with DRIV HMS, which has an office in Oppdal and Støren. This 

is a requirement for all companies that belong to our industry group ref. Section 13 of the Regulations for 

organization, leadership and participation. 

Injury and illness absence Berkåk Midsund Adm.  Group 

  2017 2017 2017 2017 

          

 Total absence (%)  3.1                   3.4 0.9 2.8 

 Total working hours ( all)           16 848  51 408 20 152 88 408 

 -specification:          

 Short term absence (%)  1.3 2.4 0.1 1.7 

 Long term absence (%)  1.8 1.0 0.8 1.1 

          

 Number of injuries  0 0 0 0 

 Number of damages  0 0 0 0 
 

Hofseth BioCare aims to practice equality and avoid discrimination in all aspects of their HR and recruitment 
policies. Hofseth BioCare actively works consciously to promote recruitment of female managers and 
employees. At the end of 2017, 8 of 46 employees in Hofseth BioCare were women and in the BoD 2 of 4 
members were women (proportion of women 50%). The Group uses foreign laborers at its factory in Midsund 
and practice equality of Norwegian and foreign employees. 
 

Hofseth BioCare is working to reduce the environmental impact in several areas. The major environmental 

issues are related to the plant in Midsund. The emissions are mainly related to a process which also affect 

emissions to air and sea. HBC aims to continuously satisfy all requirements for emissions to air and sea.  

Hofseth BioCare is also working on minimizing total energy consumption. 

All the organic matter that has not been heat treated goes through a treatment plant and is acid treated with 

the right pH and holding time before it is discharged into the sea. Hofseth BioCare has routines for sampling 

and measurement of wastewater to be within the imposed requirements. 

All waste from the production of Midsund are sorted and delivered to recycling or disposal as hazardous waste. 

Organic waste from the process is delivered to approved manufacturers of biogas. Residual waste is collected 

in a separate compactor and delivered to the incinerator. Cardboard and paper are sorted and delivered to 

recycling. Waste from our laboratory are collected and delivered in special containers as special waste. Steels 

and electric waste is delivered to an approved landfill. 

Hofseth BioCare transports mainly by road and sea. This applies to the inbound transport of raw materials and 

outbound products to our customers around the world. Through the optimization of transport and that the 

company obtains its raw materials mainly in Møre og Romsdal, the group aims to reduce the need for long-

haul operations. Transport of finished products made mainly to Europe, Asia and the United States. For Europe, 

road transport is used and to the United States and Asia we use sea transport. The group intends to transport 



18 Annual Report 

  
 

more goods by rail and boat if solutions for such transport can compete with road transport regarding  speed 

and infrastructure. 

 

See separate report prepared about the strategy to take an active responsibility around our business. It can 

be found on the company's website: www.hofsethbiocare.com/investors/csr/  

 

At the end of the year the company had 783 shareholders. For further details about the shareholders, see note 

16 to Hofseth BioCare ASA's accounts. The company has no provisions restricting the right to sell the 

Company's shares. 

 

Related party transactions are made on commercial terms in accordance with the "arm's length" principle. A 

complete and detailed overview of transactions with related parties is included in Note 6 to Hofseth BioCare 

ASA's accounts. 

 

Hofseth BioCare ASA aims to maintain a high standard of corporate governance. A healthy corporate culture 

is the key to retain confidence in the company, ensuring access to capital and ensuring a high degree of value 

creation over time. 

All shareholders are treated equally and there should be a clear division of roles and responsibilities between 

the Board and management. Hofseth BioCare follows the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate 

Governance of 30 October 2014. A more complete description of how Hofseth BioCare follows the 

recommendation and the 15 provisions, can be found on http://www.hofsethbiocare.no/investors/cg/  

2017 was a year in which Hofseth BioCare re-started a production that shows higher quality and yield. During 

that year, the company went through a number of organizational processes that were crucial to the company's 

further development and to achieve its long-term strategy. Due to the processes in 2017, one is now better 

prepared for the future than the case was at the start of 2017. 

Alliance Seafoods, which entered the ownership side in 2016, has become an important partner for the sales 

side towards the Asian market and the collaboration works well. 

CƻǊ ƻǳǊ ƘǳƳŀƴ ǎŀƭƳƻƴ ǇǊƻǘŜƛƴ tǊƻDƻ ϰΣ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴt resources will still be invested in organoleptic properties 

and further studies. The work that began in spring 2017 at Stanford University in California will continue 

beyond 2018. It is expected that this work will provide good, long-term opportunities for this product. 

/ƻƳƳŜǊŎƛŀƭ ǇǊƻŘǳŎǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ /ŀƭDƻ ϰ Ƙŀǎ ŀƭǎƻ ōŜŜƴ ŀƴ ƛƳǇƻǊǘŀƴǘ ŦƻŎǳǎ ŀǊŜŀ ƛƴ нлмтΦ CǳǊǘƘŜǊ ŜŦŦƻǊǘǎ ŀǊŜ ōŜƛƴƎ 

made to establish good contracts for this product, and the company also looks further into the sale of finished 

products. 

tŜǘDƻϰΣ ƛƴǘroduced in 2017 and contracts with good conditions, was established during the year. Higher 

volumes and yields are expected on this product beyond 2018. 

http://www.hofsethbiocare.com/investors/csr/
http://www.hofsethbiocare.no/investors/cg/


19 Annual Report 

  
 

Through the implementation of our corporate sales strategy, reacting products in three segments; feed, pet 

and human, we will ensure steady cash flow simultaneously with further research and development, and 

increased sales in core business areas; ingredients and finished products for human consumption. 

Increased production volumes and a more extensive customer base will always be seen in conjunction with 

the Group's environmental profile, and we will never compromise on this. Hofseth BioCare's vision is, and will 

for the future be, sustainable production of premium bioactive ingredients with documented health effects. 

 

 

Hofseth BioCare ASA Board of Directors,  

Ålesund, March 16 2018  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     
     
     
     

 
 

   

Ola Holen 
Styreleder 

 
 

 Henriette G. Heggdal 
Styremedlem  

   
Christoph Baldegger 

Styremedlem 
 Torill Standal Eliassen 

Styremedlem 
   

   
 

Roger Hofseth 
Administrerende direktør 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 

1 January ς 31 December 

Hofseth BioCare ASA 
            

    Consolidated (IFRS) Parent company (IFRS) 

(Figures in NOK 1000) Note 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 
Operating revenues and 
expenses   

      
  

Sales revenues 3,6 66 234 20 204 63 818 19 753 

Other operating revenue 2,6,10 52 242 0 30 721 0 

Gross operating revenue   118 476 20 204 94 539 19 753 
       

Cost of sales 2,4,6 54 928 101 408 62 649 100 406 
Salaries and other payroll 
expenses 5 26 127 17 773 21 021 14 477 

Other operating expenses 4,6,11 26 922 19 485 22 801 19 021 

Depreciation and Write-down 10,12 21 695 26 100 21 042 25 229 

Operating profit/loss (EBIT)   -11 196 -144 563 -32 975 -139 379 
        
Financial income 7 1 065 8 850 3 344 8 849 
Financial expenses 6,7 6 351 11 746 6 538 15 653 

Net financial expenses  13 -5 286 -2 896 -3 194 -6 804 
        

Loss before taxes   -16 482 -147 459 -36 168 -146 182 
        
Tax expense 8 0 0 0 0 

Net loss for the period   -16 482 -147 459 -36 168 -146 182 

        
Net profit attributable to:       
Shareholders in HBC ASA 

  -16 475 -147 450   
Non-controlling interests   -7 -9   
Total   -16 482 -147 459   
        
Earnings per share (NOK)   2017 2016 2017 2016 

        
Basic earnings per share 9 -0.07 -1.01 -0.15 -1.00 

Diluted earnings per share 9 -0.07 -1.01 -0.15 -1.00 

        
        
Total comprehensive income   -16 482 -147 459 -36 168 -146 182 

         
Comprehensive income 
attributable to:        
Shareholders in HBC ASA    -16 475 -147 450    
Non-controlling interest   -7 -9     

Total   -16 482 -147 459     
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Consolidated statement of financial position 

1 January ς 31 December 

Hofseth BioCare ASA 
            

    Consolidated (IFRS) 

(Figures in NOK 1000) Note 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 
ASSETS           
Non-current assets           
R&D, patents etc. 2,12 17 605 16 229 17 605 16 229 

Total intangible assets   17 605 16 229 17 605 16 229 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

6,10 
0 27 605 0 20 535 

Machines and equipment 10,11 53 606 56 373 48 684 51 208 
Leased machines and 
equipment 

6,11 
12 886 18 196 12 886 18 196 

Fixtures and fittings  10,11 1 597 2 509 1 597 2 509 

Total fixed assets 2  68 088 104 683 63 167 92 448 

Investment in associates   7,19  0 0 25 951 23 663 
Non-current financial 
assets 19,20 3 654 960 3 654 960 

Total non-current financial 
assets 

  
3 654 960 29 605 24 623 

Total non-current assets   89 348 121 872 110 377 133 300 

Current assets       
Inventory 2,6,14 16 858 15 589 16 631 15 589 
Trade receivables 2,6,15 26 703 2 492 25 778 2 425 
Other current assets 15 9 262 3 235 9 157 3 058 
Cash and cash equivalents 18 42 068 16 165 40 981 14 123 

Total current assets   94 891 37 481 92 546 35 194 

TOTAL ASSETS 13,20  184 239 159 353 202 924 168 494 
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    Consolidated (IFRS) Parent company (IFRS) 

(Figures in NOK 1000) Note 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES           
Equity           
Paid in equity           
Share capital 16 233 500 233 500 233 500 233 500 
Other paid in equity  0 0 0 0 

Total paid in equity   233 500 233 500 233 500 233 500 

Retained earnings       
Uncovered losses   -195 752 -179 279 -195 822 -159 653 

Total retained earnings (+) 
Uncovered loss (-) 
(attributable to equity 
holders of the parent) 

  

-195 752 -179 279 -195 822 -159 653 

Non-controlling interests   -665 -658 0 0 

Total equity   37 083 53 563 37 678 73 847 

Non-current liabilities        
Subordinary debt 6,17,20 15 000 0 15 000 0 
Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 

6,17,20 
22 830 34 282 19 316 26 345 

Financial lease obligations 6,11,17,20 6 512 11 356 6 512 11 356 

Total non-current liabilities 13,20  44 342 45 638 40 829 37 701 

Interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings 

11,17,20 
37 084 28 807 36 546 27 701 

Trade payables 6 51 929 25 147 49 487 23 454 
Other liabilities 6 13 800 6 198 38 385 5 792 

Total current liabilities  13,20 102 813 60 152 124 417 56 947 

        

Total liabilities   147 156 105 790 165 246 94 647 

TOTAL EQUITY AND 
LIABILITIES 

  
184 239 159 353 202 924 168 494 

  

Hofseth BioCare ASA Board of Directors, 

Ålesund, 16 March 2018 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
   

Ola Holen 
Chairman of the Board 

 
 

 Henriette G. Heggdal 
Board member  

   
Christoph Baldegger 

Board member 
 Torill Standal Eliassen 

Board member 

   

   
 

Roger Hofseth 
CEO 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows 
1 January ς 31 December 

            

    Consolidated (IFRS) Parent company (IFRS) 

(Figures in NOK 1000) Note 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 31.12.2017 31.12.2016 

Cash flow from operating activities           
Loss before tax   -16 482 -147 459 -36 168 -146 182 
Profit from sales of building 2,3,6,10 -52 242 0 -30 721 0 
Depreciation and Write-down 2,10,12 21 695 26 100 21 042 25 229 
Write-down/reversal shares 7 0 0 -2 288 4 834 
Change in inventory 14 -1 270 35 229 -1 042 35 146 
Change in trade receivables 15 -24 211 -512 -23 353 -445 
Change in trade payables  26 782 11 058 26 033 11 383 
Change in other accruals   16 141 1 268 14 581 -7 486 
Items classified as financing activities   4 101 7 089 3 829 6 163 

Net cash flows from operating activities   -25 485 -67 226 -28 088 -71 358 

        
Cash flow from investing activities       
Proceeds from sale of building 2,6,10 80 000 0 51 500 0 
Aquisition of tangible fixed assets 10 -9 920 -39 267 -9 601 -38 933 
Investment i non-current financial 
assets 

 

-2 694 484 -2 694 484 
Investment in other companies 20 0 0 0 0 
Investment in intangible assets 12 -3 881 -3 320 -3 881 -3 320 

Net cash flow from investing activities   63 505 -42 103 35 324 -41 769 

        

Cash flow from financing activities       
Proceeds from issue of shares 

 
0 73 856 0 73 856 

Transaction costs on issue of shares   0 -1 115 0 -1 115 
Payment of warranty expenses 7  -777 -892 -777 -892 
Payment of interest 7 -3 324 -6 197 -3 052 -5 271 
Proceeds from new borrowings 6,17 37 542 53 140 37 542 53 140 
Repayment of borrowings 6,17 -45 558 -22 170 -40 569 -21 001 
Other financetransactions including 
government grants 

19 
0 0 26 478 0 

Net cash flow from financing activities   -12 117 96 623 19 622 98 717 

       
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January   16 165 28 872 14 123 28 531 
Net change in cash and cash 
equivalents 

  
25 903 -12 707 26 858 -14 409 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 
December 18 42 068 16 165 40 981 14 123 

        

Issue of shares by debt conversion   0 115 565 0 115 565 
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Statement of changes in equity  
1 January - 31 December 

 

                

Consolidated (IFRS)               

(Figures in NOK 1000) Note 
Share 

capital 
Share 

premium 

Other 
paid 

in 
equity 

Uncovered 
loss 

Non-
controlling 

interests 

Total 
equity 

As at 1 January 2016   110 410 0 0 -77 215 -649 32 546 
Issue of share capital 06.05.2016  6 457 6 457 0 0 0 12 915 
Issue of shares by debt 
conversion 06.05.2016 

 5 343 4 948 0 0 0 10 291 

Issue of share capital 29.09.2016  39 600 19 800 0 0 0 59 400 
Issue of shares by debt 
conversion 29.09.2016 

 70 663 34 611 0 -15 651 0 89 623 

Issue of share capital 27.10.2016   1 027 514 0 0 0 1 541 
Other changes in equity  0 0 0 -5 294 0 -5 294 
Loss for the period   0 -66 331 0 -81 119 -9 -147 459 
Other comprehensive income  0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total comprehensive income   0 -66 331 0 -81 119 -9 -147 459 

As at 31 December 2016   233 500 0 0 -179 279 -658 53 563 

As at 1 January 2017   233 500 0 0 -179 279 -658 53 563 

Loss for the period   0 0 0 -16 475 -7 -16 482 

Other comprehensive income  0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total comprehensive income   0 0 0 -16 475 -7 -16 482 

As at 31 December 2017   233 500 0 0 -195 753 -665 37 083 
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Parent company (IFRS)       

(Figures in NOK 1000) Note 
Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other paid in 
equity 

Uncovered 
loss 

Total equity 

As at 1 January 2016   110 410 0 0 -59 957 50 453 

Issue of share capital 
06.05.2016 

  6 457 6 457 0 0 12 915 

Issue of shares by debt 
conversion 06.05.2016 

  5 343 4 948 0 0 10 291 

Issue of share capital 
29.09.2016 

 39 600 19 800 0 0 59 400 

Issue of shares by debt 
conversion 29.09.2016 

 70 663 34 611 0 -15 651 89 622 

Issue of share capital 
27.10.2016 

 1 027 514 0 0 1 541 

Other changes in equity  0 0 0 -4 193 -4 193 

Loss for the period   0 -66 331 0 -79 852 -146 182 

As at 31 December 2016   233 500 0 0 -159 654 73 847 

              

As at 1 January 2017   233 500 0 0 -159 654 73 847 

Loss for the period  0 0 0 -36 168 -36 168 

Other changes in equity  0 0 0 0 0 

Loss for the period   0 0 0 -36 168 -36 168 

As at 31 December 2017   233 500 0 0 -195 822 37 678 
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Hofseth BioCare ASA is a public limited liability 

company domiciled in Norway. The ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

headquarter is in Havnegata 11 in Ålesund, with 

one manufacturing facility in the municipality of 

Midsund and one manufacturing facility in the 

municipality of Rennebu. 

The annual financial statements were approved for 

issuance by the board 16 March 2018. 

The GroupΩǎ ƻǇŜǊŀǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎƛƴƎ ƻŦ ŦƛǎƘ 

feedstock into high quality protein and other food 

supplements.  

¢ƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŎƻƴǎƻƭƛŘŀǘŜŘ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ǎǘŀǘŜƳŜƴǘǎ 

for 2017 consist of the parent company and the 

subsidiaries Hofseth BioCare Rørvik AS and HBC 

Berkåk AS (the Group).  

 

 

The consolidated financial statements and the 

parent company financial statements of Hofseth 

BioCare ASA have been prepared in accordance 

with IFRSs and related interpretations as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB) and as adopted by the EU as of 31 December 

2017, as well as the additional disclosure 

requirements following from the Norwegian 

accounting act as of 31 December 2017. 

The consolidated financial statements and the 

parent company financial statements are prepared 

on the historical cost basis.  

The consolidated financial statements and the 

parent company financial statements have been 

prepared applying consistent accounting policies 

for similar transactions and events. 

 

 

(i) Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements include 

Hofseth BioCare ASA and companies controlled by 

Hofseth BioCare ASA. Companies are determined 

to be controlled when the Group is exsposed to, or 

has rights to, variable returns as a result of the 

involvement from the Group, and the Group is able 

to influence the returns through its power over the 

company. All of the following criteria must be 

fulfilled: 

ω power over the company 

ω exposed to, or have rights to, variable returns 

from its involvement in the company invested 

in, and 

ω possibility to exercise its power over the 

company to influence the amount of the 

returns 

The Group has no associated companies or joint 

ventures. 

(ii) Elimination of transactions in the consolidation 

Group internal balances and any unrealised gains 

or losses or revenues and costs related to intra 

Group transactions, are eliminated in full in the 

consolidated financial statements. 

(iii) The non-controlling interest in the 

consolidated financial statements is the non-

controlled share of the GroupΩǎ Ŝǉǳƛǘȅ. In business 

combinations the non-controlling interest is 

measured including the non-controlling interesǘΩs 

share of the acquired ŜƴǘƛǘȅΩǎ identifyable net 

assetsΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎǳōǎƛŘƛŀǊȅΩǎ ŀƴƴǳŀƭ ǊŜǎǳƭǘΣ ǘƻƎŜǘƘŜǊ 

with the individual components recognized in 

other comprehensive income, is attributable to the 

parent company and the non-controlling interests. 

Total comprehensive income is attributed to the 

share holders of the parent company and to the 

non-controlling interests even if this results in 

negative non-controlling interests. 

 

 

The GroupΩǎ ǇǊŜǎŜƴǘŀǘƛƻƴ ŎǳǊǊŜƴŎȅ ƛǎ bhY, which is 

also the functional currency of all companies in the 

Group. All amounts are presented in NOK 1000 

unless specifically noted.   
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Management has to some extent used estimates 

and assumptions which have affected assets, 

liabilities, revenues, expenses, and information of 

potential commitments. Future events may cause 

changes in the estimates. Estimates and the 

underlying assumptions are assessed continuously. 

Changes in accounting estimates are recognized in 

the period the changes occur. To the extent the 

changes also affect future periods, the effect is 

allocated over the current and future periods. See 

note 2. 

 

 

Transactions in foreign currency are translated at 

the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transaction. Monetary items in foreign currency 

are translated to Norwegian kroner at the 

exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Currency 

exchange gains and losses are recognized in the 

income statement and presented as financial 

income/financial expense.  

 

 

Revenues are primarily generated from 

manufactured own goods within the following 

product types: 

ω Salmon oil (OmeGo®) 
ω Water-soluble protein (ProGo®) 
ω Calcium (CalGo®) 
ω Non-soluble proteinόtŜǘDƻϰύ 
The Group has ordinary sales of goods and 

standard manufacturing, and revenues are 

recognized as earned which generally is at the time 

of delivery of the goods. Delivery is assumed at the 

time the significant risks and rewards of a good are 

passed to the customer. In addition to the 

customer obtaining risks and rewards, the 

following criteria need to be fulfilled before 

revenues are recognized: 

ω It is likely that the consideration will be 
paid.  

ω The revenues may be reliably estimated. 
 

Revenues are measured at the fair value of the 

received consideration or receivable. Revenues are 

presented net of value added taxes and discounts. 

To the extent customers buy products which are to 

be stored at Hofseth .ƛƻ/ŀǊŜΩǎ inventory, risks and 

rewards are assumed transferred to the customer, 

and the consideration is recognized in full. 

 

 

An operating segment is a component of the Group 

that engages in business activities from which it 

earns revenues and incurs expenses.  The GroupΩǎ 

operating results are regularly reviewed by the 

managing director to monitor the GroupΩǎ ǊŜǎǳƭǘs 

and make decisions about resources to be 

allocated. 

As the Group has one common and not separable 

manufacturing process for its products, 

management focuses its financial review on 

revenues and quality generated from the 

manufacturing process. Management monitors the 

financial results at Group level and, hence, the 

Group only has one segment.  

Information about products is presented in note 3. 

 

 

Financial income consists of interest income, 

dividends, foreign exchange gains and gains from 

sale of financial instruments. Interest income is 

recognised when earned, calculated using the 

effective interest rate method, while dividends are 

recognised on the date of the general meeting 

approving the dividends. 

Financial expenses consist of interest expenses, 

guarantee commissions, foreign exchange losses 

and losses from sale of financial instruments. 

Interest expenses and guarantee commissions are 

recognized when incurred, calculated using the 

effective interest rate method. 

 

 

Income tax expenses consist of current taxes 

payable and changes in deferred taxes. Current 

taxes payable are taxes payable or tax receivables 
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related to taxable income or loss for the year, 

based on tax rates substantively enacted at the 

balance sheet date. Changes in calculated current 

taxes payable related to prior years are included in 

the amount. 

Deferred tax/deferred tax assets are calculated on 

all temporary differences between carrying 

amounts and tax bases for all assets and liabilities 

on the balance sheet date. 

Deferred taxes are calculated using the tax rate 

expected to be applicable at the time of reversal of 

the temporary differences.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent 

the company is expected to have sufficient taxable 

income in future periods to utilize the tax benefit.  

The companies recognize previously unrecognized 

deferred tax assets to the extent it has become 

likely that the company may utilize the deferred tax 

benefit. Likewise the company will reduce deferred 

tax assets to the extent the company no longer 

expects that it will be able to utilise the deferred 

tax benefit.  

Deferred tax and deferred tax assets are measured 

at nominal values. Deferred tax liabilities are 

presented as provisions/long term liabilities in the 

balance sheet, while deferred tax assets are 

presented as intangible assets. 

 

 

Fixed assets are measured at cost, less 

accumulated depreciations and impairment write- 

downs. Fixed assets are derecognized when sold or 

disposed of and any gains or losses are recognized 

in the income statement. 

Acquisition cost for fixed assets is the cost price 

and costs directly associated wih getting the asset 

ready for its intended use. 

Expenditures incurred after recognition of the 

fixed asset, such as day-to-day maintenance, are 

recognized in the income statement as incurred, 

while expenditures expected to generate future 

economic benefits are recognized in the carrying 

amount. Depreciation period, depreciation 

method and residual values are assessed annually. 

Fixed assets are carried at cost until manufacturing 

or development has been completed. Fixed assets 

under construction are not depreciated until the 

assets are ready for their intended use. 

When significant components of a property, plant 

and equipment are determined to have different 

useful lives, they are accounted for as separate 

components.  

Each component of property, plant and equipment 

is depreciated on a straight-line basis over its 

estimated useful life, as this is considered to best 

represent the consumption of the future economic 

benefits of the assets. Land is not depreciated. 

Estimated useful life for the current period and 

depreciation periods are disclosed in note 10. 

Depreciation method, useful life and residual 

values are reassessed ar the balance sheet date 

and adjusted if found necessary. When the carrying 

amount of a fixed asset or a cash-generating unit is 

higher than the recoverable amount, the asset is 

written-down to its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of value in use 

and fair value less costs of disposal. 

 

 

Lease agreements in which substantially all the 

risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 

asset are transferred to the company are finance 

leases. When substantially all the risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership are undertaken by the 

company, the finance lease is accounted for under 

the same accounting policy as equivalent owned 

assets. When calculating the net present value of 

the lease payments the implicit interest rate in the 

lease agreement is used to the extent it can be 

determined. If the implicit rate in the lease 

ŀƎǊŜŜƳŜƴǘ Ŏŀƴƴƻǘ ōŜ ŘŜǘŜǊƳƛƴŜŘΣ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

marginal borrowing rate is used. Direct 

expenditures related to establishing the lease 

agreement are included in ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘΩǎ Ŏƻǎǘ ǇǊƛŎŜ. 

The deprciation period is the same as for the 

ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ƻǘƘŜǊ ŘŜǇǊŜŎƛŀōƭŜ fixed assets. If it is 

not reasonably certain that the company will take 

ownership of the asset at the end of the lease term, 
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the asset is depreciated over the shortest of the 

lease term and its useful life.   

Lease agreements in which substantially all risks 

and rewards incidental to onwership of an asset 

are not transferred are classified as operating 

leases. Lease payments are classified as operating 

expenses and recognised in the income statement 

on a straight-line basis over the contract period. 

 

 

Intangible assets acquired separately are 

recognised at their cost price. The cost price for 

intangible assets acqured are recognised at fair 

value in the Group. Recognised intangible assets 

are accounted for at cost less any depreciation and 

impairment write-down.   

Internally generated intangibe assets, except for 

recognised development costs, are not recognised, 

but expensed as incurred.  

Intangible assets with finite useful life are 

depreciated over their useful lives and tested for 

impairment when impairment indicators are 

present. Depreciation methods and useful lives are 

assessed annually as a minimum. Changes to 

depreciation method and/or useful life are 

accounted for as estimate changes.  

Goodwill occurs in business acquisitions. Goodwill 

is calculated as the difference between the cost of 

ǘƘŜ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜŜ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƛǊ ǾŀƭǳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŀŎǉǳƛǊŜŜΩǎ 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 

liabilities. To the extent fair value of net identifiable 

assets exceed the cost price (negative 

goodwill/badwill), the exceeding amount is 

recognized in the income statement.   

Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units or 

Groups of cash generating units which are 

expected to benefit from synergies from the 

business combination.  

Goodwill is recognised on the balance sheet at 

cost, less any accumulated impairment write-

downs.  Goodwill is not depreciated, but tested at 

least annually for impairment. Impairments are 

recognised when the recoverable amount is lower 

than the carrying amount. The recoverable amount 

is the highest of value in use and fair value less 

costs of disposal.  

Acquisition costs for patents and licences are 

recognised and depreciated over their estimated 

useful lives.  

Expenditures on research are recognised in the 

income statement as incurred. Expenditures on 

development activities, including product 

development (new or improved products) are 

recognized when all the following criteria are 

fullfilled: 

ω It is technically possible to complete the 
asset / product in such a way that the 
Group may use or sell the asset /product in 
the future 

ω Lǘ ƛǎ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ƛƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ǘƻ ŎƻƳǇƭŜǘŜ 
the asset / product, as well as to use or sell 
the asset / product 

ω It is possible to use the asset / sell the 
product 

ω How the asset / product will generate 
future revenues can be proven 

ω The Group has sufficient technological and 
financial ressources available to complete 
the asset / development of the product 

ω The costs can be reliably measured  
 

Recognised costs include cost of material, 

consultant fees and direct salary costs. Other 

development costs are recognized in the income 

statement as incurred. Previously expensed 

development costs are not subsequently 

capitalized. Recognised development costs are 

depreciated on a straight-line ōŀǎƛǎ ƻǾŜǊ ǘƘŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΩ 

/ productsΩ estimated useful lives. 

 

 

Government grants are recognised at the time it is 

reasonably certain that the company complies with 

the requirements stated to be eligible for the 
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grants, and will receive payment. Grants relating to 

operating expenditures are recognised 

systematically over the grant period. Grants are 

recognised against the costs the grant is meant to 

cover. Grants for investments are recognised 

systematically over the assets useful lives. Grants 

for investments are recognised as a reduction to 

ǘƘŜ ǊŜƭŀǘŜŘ ŀǎǎŜǘǎΩ ŎŀǊǊȅƛƴƎ ŀƳƻǳƴǘΦ  

 

 

Goodwill is not depreciated, but annually assessed 

for impairment. Depreciable fixed assets and 

intangible assets are assessed for impairment 

when impairment indicators are identified. 

Impairment write-downs for the difference 

between the carrying amount and the recoverable 

amount are recognised in the income statement.  

The recoverable amount for an asset or a cash 

generating unit is the higher of value in use and fair 

value less costs of disposal. When assessing value 

in use estimated future cash flows are discounted 

to net present value using a pre-tax market based 

discount rate. The discount rate includes the time 

value of money and asset specific risk. When 

testing for impairment, assets which are not tested 

individually are tested at a Group level 

representing the lowest level of identifiable cash 

inflows which are independent of cash inflows 

from other assets or Groups of assets (cash 

generating units or CGUs).  

Impairment write-downs are recognised to the 

extent the carrying amount of an asset or cash 

generating unit exceed the estimated recoverable 

amount. When recognizing impairment write-

downs related to cash generating units, any 

goodwill impairment is recognized first. Any 

remaining impairment amount is split pro-rata on 

other assets in the cash generating unit (Group of 

cash generating units). Impairments are presented 

in the line item depreciations and impairments. 

Impairments related to goodwill are not reversed. 

For other assets an assessment as to whether there 

are indications that the impairment is no longer 

present or reduced is made on the balance sheet 

date (reporting date). Impairments are reversed if 

the estimates in the calculation have favourably 

changed the recoverable amount. Impairment 

reversals are limited to the carrying amounts being 

equal to what it would have been if no impairment 

had been recognised.  

 

 

The GroupΩǎ ƛƴǾŜǎǘƳŜƴǘǎ ƛƴ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎ 

are accounted for in accordance with IAS 39. 

Currently the Group primarily has instruments in 

the categories loans and receivables and other 

financial liabilties.  

The Group recognises financial instruments when 

it becomes party to an instrumentΩǎ contractual 

terms. As a starting point financial instruments are 

derecognised when risks and rewards are 

transferred to another party. If this cannot be 

readily determined, an assessment as to whether 

control over the instrument is retained is 

performed. If control is not retained, the 

instrument is derecognised. Financial liabilities are 

derecognised when the obligations in the contract 

is discharged, cancelled or expires.  

Accounts receivables, other long and short term 

receivables, and cash and cash equivalents are 

measured at fair value at initial recognition and 

subsequently at amortised cost. Accounts 

receivables are initially measured at fair value and 

subsequently at amortised cost, less any provisions 

for losses. Loss provisions are recognized in the 

income statement and made when there is 

objective evidence that the customer will not be 

capable of paying in accordance with the original 

terms of the receivables. 

Interest bearing debt and other liabilities are 

measured at fair value less transaction costs at the 

time of initial recognition. In subsequent periods 

loans are measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest rate method. 

Financial instruments or components of 

instruments are classified as equity or liability 

depending on the substance of the contract and 

the definitions of equity and liabilities, including 

whether a contractual commitment to settle in 

cash or other financial instrument exist. The 

conversion feature in a convertible bond is 

accounted for as a derivative, or as a component of 
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equity depending on whether a right to convert a 

fixed ς or variable number of shares exist. 

 

 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are 

written down for impairment when there is a 

ǊŜŀǎƻƴŀōƭŜ ƭƛƪŜƭƛƘƻƻŘ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ ƛƴǎǘǊǳƳŜƴǘǎΩ Ŏŀsh 

flows have been negatively influenced by one or 

several events which have occurred after initial 

recognition of the instrument. The impairment 

amount is recognized in the income statement. To 

the extent the basis for the impairment no longer 

exist in a subsequent period, and the basis can be 

tied objectively to an event happening after the 

impairment was recognised, the previously 

recognised impairment is reversed. The reversal 

should not result in the carrying amount of the 

financial asset exceeding the amortised cost 

amount which would have been recognized 

without the impairment. Reversals of prior period 

impairments are presented as revenues. 

 

 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 

net realisable value. Net realisable value has been 

estimated as selling price in the ordinary course of 

business less the estimated costs of completion 

and the estimated costs for marketing and 

distribution. Cost is allocated using the FIFO-

method and includes expenditures incurred in 

purchasing the goods, raw material, costs to bring 

the goods and the raw material to their current 

condition and location. Owned goods are valued at 

manufacturing cost and include raw material costs, 

as well as other variable and fixed production costs 

that can be allocated based on normal capacity 

utilization. See note 2 and 14 for more information. 

 

 

Cash includes cash in hand and bank deposits. Cash 

equivalents are short term highly liquid 

investments which can immediately be converted 

to a known amount of cash, and with a maximum 

duration of 3 months from the date of acquisition. 

 

 

A defined contribution pension plan is an 

arrangement in which the employer pays fixed 

constributions to a fund or a pension fund, and in 

which the company has no further legal or 

constructive obligations to pay additional 

contributions. The contributions are recognized in 

the income statement as salary related costs the 

periods in which the employee renders the service. 

The parent company has had share option 

programmes for ǎƻƳŜ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

management. The programmes are measured at 

fair value at the time of the awards. The share 

ƻǇǘƛƻƴ ǇǊƻƎǊŀƳƳŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

management are equity-settled arrangements. 

Fair value of awarded options are amortised over 

the vesting period. 

The costs of share based payment transactions 

with employees are recognized as an expense in 

the income statement over the average vesting 

period. For transactions settled with the 

ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ǎƘŀǊŜǎ όŜǉǳƛǘȅ ǎŜǘǘƭŜŘ ŀǊǊŀƴƎŜƳŜƴǘǎύ 

the value of the awarded options is recognized as 

salary related expenses in the income statement 

with the offsetting entry recognized in the balance 

sheet in other paid in equity.  See note 5 for more 

information about the option programme. 

Social security contributions related to options are 

recognised in the income statement over the 

estimated vesting period. 

At the end of 2017, no employees had active share 

options. 

 

 

A provision is recognised when the company has an 

obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 

past event, it is likely (more likely than not) that 

payment will be made as a result of the liability and 

the amount can be measured reliably. If the effect 

is significant, the provision is measured at the 

discounted value of future cash outflows using a 
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pre-tax discount rate reflecting the marketΩǎ 

pricing of the time value of money and, if relevant, 

the risks specifically related to the liability. 

A provision for a guarantee is recognised when the 

underlying products or services are sold. The 

provision is based on historical information about 

guarantees and a weighting of potential outcomes 

against their liekelihood of occuring. 

Provisions for onerous contracts are recognised 

ǿƘŜƴ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŜȄǇŜŎǘŜŘ ǊŜǾŜƴǳŜǎ ŦǊƻƳ ŀ 

contract is lower than the unavoidable costs of 

meeting the obligations under the contract. 

 

 

Contingent liabilities for which it is not likely that 

the liability will incur are not recognized in the 

financial statements. Significant contingent 

liabilities are disclosed, except for contingent 

liabilities related to which it is remote that 

payment will have to be made.   

Contingent assets are not recognised in the 

financial statements unless they are virtually 

certain. Other contingent assets are disclosed if it 

is likely that an economic benefit will be received 

by the Group. 

 

 

New information subsequent to the balance sheet 

date about the GroupΩǎ ŀƴŘ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊŜƴǘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ 

financial position at the balance sheet date are 

taken into account in the financial statements. 

Events subsequent to the balance sheet date which 

do not influence the GroupΩǎ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊŜƴǘ 

ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ ŦƛƴŀƴŎƛŀƭ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ŀǘ ǘƘŜ ōŀƭŀƴŎŜ ǎƘŜet 

date, but which will influence the GroupΩǎ ƻǊ ǘƘŜ 

ǇŀǊŜƴǘ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ Ǉƻǎƛǘƛƻƴ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ Ŧuture, have been 

disclosed in the notes if significant. 

 

 

The accounting policies applied are the same as the 

ones applied in last yearΩs financial statements. No 

changes to IFRSs and interpretations with impact 

on the 2017 financial statements have been 

relevant this year. 

 

 

Standards and interpretations that are issued up to 

the date of issuance of the consolidated financial 

statements, but not yet effective are disclosed 

ōŜƭƻǿΦ ¢ƘŜ DǊƻǳǇΩǎ ƛƴǘŜƴǘƛƻƴ ƛǎ ǘƻ ŀŘƻǇǘ ǘƘŜ 

relevant new and amended standards and 

interpretations when they become effective, 

subject to EU approval before the consolidated 

financial statements are issued. 

IFRS 9 ς Financial instruments 

In July 2014, the IASB published the final 

subproject in IFRS 9 and the standard is now 

complete. IFRS 9 involves changes related to 

classification and measurement, hedge accounting 

and impairment. IFRS 9 will replace IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments - Recognition and Measurement. The 

parts of IAS 39, which have not been amended as 

part of this project, have been transposed and 

incorporated into IFRS 9. 

The standard will be implemented retrospectively, 

except for hedge accounting, but it is not a 

requirement to recalculate comparative figures. 

The rules for hedge accounting are mainly 

implemented prospectively with a few exceptions. 

The Group has no plans for early implementation 

of the standard. The standard is expected to have 

an accounting effect from 1 January 2018. Limited 

effects are expected upon the introduction of IFRS 

9 for the company and the group. 

IFRS 15 ς Revenue from contracts with customers 

IASB and FASB have issued a new common 

standard for revenue recognition, IFRS 15 

Operating revenues from contracts with 

customers. The standard supersedes all existing 

standards and interpretations for revenue 

recognition. The core principle of IFRS 15 is that 

revenue is recognized to reflect the transfer of 

agreed goods or services to customers, and then to 

an amount that reflects the consideration the 

company expects to be entitled to in exchange for 

these goods or services. The standard applies to a 
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few exceptions, all income-generating contracts 

with customers, and includes a model for 

recognition and measurement of sales of certain 

non-financial assets (eg property, plant and 

equipment sales). The Group also reviews the 

preparation of IFRS 15 issued by the IASB in April 

2016. 

IFRS 15 is to be implemented either by applying the 

fully retrospective method or the modified 

retrospective method. The standard has 

accounting effect from 1 January 2018. 

The company and the Group expect no effects 

from the implementation of IFRS 15. The company 

and the Group have ordinary sales, recognized at 

the time of delivery of the goods. There are no 

significant bundled deliveries or complicated 

consideration structures in the agreements 

existing today. 

IFRS 16 Leases 

IFRS 16 Leases supersedes the existing IFRS 

standard for leases, IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 sets out 

the principles for recognition, measurement, 

presentation and information about leases for 

both parties in a lease, ie the customer (tenant) 

and offers (landlord). The new standard requires 

the lessee to recognize assets and liabilities for 

most leases, which is a significant change from 

today's principles. For landlords, IFRS 16 continues 

in the essential principles of IAS 17. In line with this, 

a landlord shall continue to classify its leases as 

operational or financial leases and account for 

these two types of leases differently. 

The standard is expected to have accounting effect 

from 1 January 2019 and will be implemented 

using either the full retrospective or modified 

retrospective method. 

The implementation of IFRS 16 will mean that the 

lease agreements for factory buildings (Note 6) 

must be recognized at the estimated value of 

factory buildings under current assets and long-

term interest-bearing liabilities. There has been no 

decision regarding the choice of method of 

calculation as of today. Factory buildings are 

recognized as permanent assets and are further 

assessed according to Principle Note 1.11. The 

obligations in the lease agreements are recognized 

as a long-term interest-bearing financial liability, 

whereby the agreed lease payments are allocated 

between the deductions on the calculated 

principal and interest expenses in subsequent 

accounting. In addition, most operating leases 

mentioned in Note 11 will have to be recognized in 

the same way, but they will have limited effect. 

Other issued standards and interpretations with 

future implementation dates are not relevant and 

will not impact the Group or the parent company 

financial statements. 

 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make judgments 

when choosing and applying accounting principles. Further, IFRS requires the management to make estimates 

based on judgments, and that estimates and assumptions are realistic. All estimates are considered to be the 

Ƴƻǎǘ ƭƛƪŜƭȅ ƻǳǘŎƻƳŜ ōŀǎŜŘ ƻƴ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ōŜǎǘ ƪƴƻǿƭŜŘƎŜΦ 

The GroupΩǎ Ƴƻǎǘ ǎƛƎƴƛŦƛŎŀƴǘ ŀŎŎƻǳƴǘƛƴƎ ŜǎǘƛƳŀǘŜǎ ŀƴŘ ŀǊŜŀǎ ƻŦ ƧǳŘƎƳŜƴǘ ŀǊŜ ǘƘŜ ŦƻƭƭƻǿƛƴƎΥ 

ω Going concern 
ω Allocation of production costs in manufactruring cost of finished product cost 
ω Sale and leaseback og plant builings 
ω Transactions with related parties 
ω Recognition of intangible assets   
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ω Depreciation, amortisation and impairment of fixed assets and intangible assets 
ω Deferred tax asset 
ω Inventory - obsolescence 
ω Assessment of losses on accounts receivables  

 

In accordance with the accounting act § 3-3a we confirm that the conditions for continued operations is 

present and that the annual report have been prepared based on the going conscern assumption. It should be 

noted that there is uncertainty considering the Group's ability to complete the development of Midsund 

factory and ability to sell products at sufficiently high prices. 

Sales of the buildings resulted in a significant improvement in liquidity in the first quarter of 2017. New 

financing agreement on factoring, inventory financing and the agreement on subordinated loan in the second 

half of 2017 ensure sufficient liquidity in the first part of 2018. Furthermore, the Board of Directors at the time 

of submission of the annual report have an authorization granted by the General Meeting on 29 May 2017 for 

the issue of up to approximately 23.3 million new shares. The authorization is intended to be used if the 

company has a need for additional equity and liquidity. 

The Company is in compliance with all requirements of our loan contracts and thus is not in violation of 

covenants as of 31.12.2017. The company still has negative results in the two months of 2018 but the Company 

is not in breach of the covenants on all loan contracts. Please refer to Note 17 for more information on 

conditions linked to the Group and the company's interest-bearing debt. 

It will be crucial for the group and the company to achieve a higher production and average price of their 

products in order to contribute to adequate profitability in the future. The company expects improvement in 

future results when prices and volumes for the individual products are established. 

The Board considers that it is essential that the group and the company manages to increase sales and improve 

earnings timely in relation to the need for liquidity in the Group and the Company. The board will keep the 

income and liquidity situation closely and continuously assess the need for additional liquidity. 

The group and the company's assets and values are present under the assumption of going concern.  In a 

potencioal forced sale related to liquidation, the value of some of the group's and the company's assets may 

be lower than the book value of the assets. The uncertainty primary relates to the value of intangible assets 

and rights, fixed assets, financial assets and investments, as well as the value of inventories. 

 

Four types of finished products are produced from a common production process based on the same input 

factors. The value of the individual finished product is based on the allocation of production costs determined 

based on the finished product's relative share of production yield multiplied by the expected sales value. The 

same model has been used for allocating production costs over several years. The determination of expected 

sales value as a basis for allocating production costs has significant discretionary assessments and has a 

significant effect on the calculation of the cost of production of the various finished product products. The 

group and the company are still in a start-up and development phase, but management's judgment has based 

on historical sales transactions of water-soluble protein (ProGo®) and CalGo® mainly to related parties, as well 

as historical sales transactions of salmon oil (OmeGo®) and non- water-ǎƻƭǳōƭŜ ǇǊƻǘŜƛƴ όtŜǘDƻ ϰύ Ƴŀƛƴƭȅ ǘƻ 

independent parties in the feed market. See notes 4 and 14. 
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Hofseth BioCare ASA sold in 2017 the factory building at Midsund and the subsidiary HBC Berkåk AS sold the 

factory building at Berkåk for a total of TNOK 80 000 to Syvde Eiendom AS, which is closely related to the 

shareholder Alliance Seafoods Inc. The sale resulted in accounting profit of TNOK 30 721 in the company 

accounts and TNOK 52 242 in the consolidated financial statements. The transaction fee is based on tariffs 

from independent taxpayer. At the same time, 15-year lease agreements were signed at the factory buildings. 

The lease payments are determined based on the term of the contract, the return provided for the buildings' 

alternative uses and the estimated value of the factory buildings at the end of the rental period. The 

assessment of whether the terms of the leases classify the leases as financial or operating leases entail 

significant discretion regarding the real transfer of risk and control and which are important for recognizing 

the accounting profit from the sales transactions in both the company accounts and the consolidated 

accounts. See notes 6 , 10 and 11. 

 

Transactions with related parties constitute a significant part of the Group's and the company's ordinary 

operating income and expenses, and the determination of arm's length pricing is largely based on discretion. 

Transactions also affect liquidity and financial carrying capacity for the Group and the company's operations. 

In addition to the transactions mentioned in the sections above, the Group has the following other significant 

transactions with related parties. 

Hofseth BioCare ASA buys raw materials (fish fry) from Hofseth Aalesund AS, Hofseth AS and Seafood Farmers 

of Norway AS, which are shareholders or close associates of the shareholder. The raw material agreement 

started to run in 2015 and lasts over 3 years, giving the company and the group the exclusive right to deliver 

all by-products from their production. Appraisal is used in determining conditions for the purchase of raw 

materials. See notes 4 and 6. 

The company and the group also have financial leases relating to production equipment, subordinated loan 

agreement and long-term loan agreement with related parties. Appraisal is used in determining the terms of 

both the finance leases of production equipment and the loan agreements. See notes 6 and 17. 

 

The Group has come far in the development phase of establishing production at the targeted level and with 

the quality that the business model has been based on. The Group invests in research and development 

activities on an ongoing basis. Uncertainties exist relating to the timing of when the requirements for 

ǊŜŎƻƎƴƛǘƛƻƴ ƻŦ ƛƴǘŀƴƎƛōƭŜ ŀǎǎŜǘǎ ƘŀǾŜ ōŜŜƴ ƳŜǘΦ ¢ƘŜ ƳŀƴŀƎŜƳŜƴǘΩǎ ǎǘarting point is that research and 

development activities are capitalized when there is an identifiable asset or product that is controlled by the 

company that is expected to result in future economic benefits. Uncertainties also exist relating to the 

assessment and estimation of the cost price for the intangible assets, and mainly relating to the estimation of 

cost price for developing intangible assets and product development. Development activities that qualify for 

capitalization are capitalized both in the Group and parent company. See note 12.  

 

Estimated useful lƛǾŜǎ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ŎƻƳǇŀƴȅΩǎ machinery and equipment (production equipment), in addition to 

intangible assets, have been impacted by the technological development. The useful lives for fixed assets and 

intangible assets are estimated to 5 ς 10 years. There are uncertainties relating to the interval between 6 and 

10 years, especially for intangible assets. See note 10 and note 12. 
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There are uncertainties relating to future taxable income and a deferred tax asset has not been recognized in 

the financial statements. The unrecognized deferred tax assets amount to KNOK 110 148 at 31 December 

2017. 

Important assumptions have been made when allocating variable and fixed costs for the calculation of the cost 

price for internally produced inventories. Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

Judgment has been applied when assessing quality and durability. Further, judgement has been applied for 

the valuation of inventory to sales price, where historical transactions on bulk sales of salmon oil for feed, for 

similar products in the different segments of the human market (sports nutrition and supplements) and 

markets for pet food have been considered. A provision for obsolescence is made. See note 14.  

 

At the end of 2017 the Group had no significant overdue accounts receivables. See note 4 and 15. 

 

The CompŀƴȅΩǎ ǇǊƻŎŜǎǎƛƴƎ Ǉƭŀƴǘǎ ŀǊŜ ƭƻŎated in Norway. The production is fine-tuned as needed, but overall 

the production is within the definition for human consumption. The Group has only one operating segment 

which is the production of salmon oil (OmeGo®), soluble protein (ProGo®), Calcium (CalGo®) and non water-

soluble ǇǊƻǘŜƛƴ όtŜǘDƻϰ). All products are manufactured at the plant in Midsund, but ProGo® is refined from 

water phase into powder form at the plant in Berkåk. 

 

The raw material is produced fresh and the system for feeding the raw material is closed. This way the oil holds 

a very high quality, with low oxidation values. The storage tanks are filled with nitrogen before draining the 

oil. This ensures that the fresh, good quality is maintained throughout the process. Our oil production process 

is unique, in that the oil from the raw material is released with the enzymes. Hence, the product is not exposed 

to high temperatures and gives a fresh salmon oil with long durability to the consumers. 
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HBC produces a hydrolysed salmon protein. The product is the protein that has the fastest uptake in the body 

of comparable protein products on the market. It contains little fat and has good solubility in water. 

Adjustments to the manufacturing process have also been undertaken to increase the capacity and quality of 

the product in 2017. 

 

In 2017, HBC produced the first batches of a pure calcium product and will continue to make adjustments in 

2018 to increase the yield on this fraction. The process is constructed so that the bone fraction of the salmon 

comes out as whole bones and bones before it is dried and milled into pure calcium powder. 

 

The PHP fraction, which is the fourth main product from the Midsund plant, is separated as a separate protein 

product and dried to a high quality fishmeal. The yield on this fraction is good, but measures have been 

identified to further increase the yield. 

 

The segment information is based on an overall performance reporting for all products as one segment. For 

information purposes, the revenue split for the different products is shown in the table below.  The products 

are mainly produced in the same production process, and from the same raw material supply. Hence, the cost 

of sales is monitored by the management as total cost of sales, but split by product.  The Production Manager 

manages production by monitoring the raw material into vs. output of finished goods for the 4 different 

product types in order to calculate the yield by product. 

Revenue per product Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 By product          

 Salmon Oil (OmeGo®) 22 997 13 593 22 997 13 593 

 Soluble Protein Hydrolysate(ProGo®) 28 798 5 177 28 798 5 177 

 Calcium (CalGo®) 753 27 753 27 

 Non-ǎƻƭǳōƭŜ tǊƻǘŜƛƴόtŜǘDƻϰύ 5 273 0 5 273 0 

 By-products  6 593 1 407 5 997 957 

 Rental production 1 820 0 0 0 

 Profit from sales of property, plant and equipment 52 242 0 30 721 0 

 Sum  118 476 20 204 94 539 19 753 

        

 By region        

 Norway  23 631 5 039 21 214 4 589 

 Asia  15 497 0 15 497 0 

 Europe excl Norway  18 771 14 491 18 771 14 491 

 North-Amerika  8 338 673 8 335 673 

 Profit from sales of property, plant and equipment 52 242 0 30 721 0 

 Sum  118 476 20 204 94 539 19 753 
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In 2017 goods for a total amount of 54 502 were sold to two customers and individually accounted for more 

than 10% of total revenues. The sale to each of these customers were KNOK 31 430 and KNOK 23 071, 

respectively. Similarly, in 2016 goods for a total amount of KNOK 12 085 were sold to two customers that 

individually accounted for more than 10% of total revenues. The sale to each of these customers were KNOK 

9 457 and KNOK 2 628, respectively.  

 

Cost of sales Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 Raw material 32 033 4 759 32 033 4 759 

 Freight 7 265 6 741 7 227 6 711 

 Purchased services 16 454 9 138 24 213 8 165 

 Obsolescence cost 1 117 43 720 1 117 43 720 

 Change in inventory  -1 941 37 051 -1 941 37 051 

 Total cost of sales 54 928 101 408 62 649 100 406 

 

The Company purchased back volumes of salmon oil previously sold in the North-America and Europe, due to 

age and upcoming shelf life expiry. Volumes are bought back at selling price and is sold to other buyers in 

North-America and Europe. For 2016, these actions had resulted in obsolent cost of KNOK 43 720. In addition, 

the Company took over the ownership and control to previously delivered goods to a customer in North 

America, with no capital-related expenses. The customer had a significantly overdue accounts receivable, 

which group deposited in full loss in 2015. The value of the acquired items was set equal to the sales value of 

the goods in 2016 (KNOK 1 109), where the loss allocation was similarly reversed (see table below). 

Other operating expenses Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

Leasing  1 322 1 333 1 315 1 331 

Rent 5 739 0 3 815 0 

Travelling cost 1 942 1 477 1 910 1 457 

Consultant fees and tax advisory  5 015 6 511 4 856 6 396 

Advertising  754 1 807 752 1 801 

Insurance 628 820 484 643 

R&D and patents 1 296 1 789 1 296 1 789 

Repair and maintenance  7 399 2 631 6 053 2 097 

Company cars 678 918 645 899 

Provision for loss on trade receivables 0 -1 109 0 -341 

Other operating expenses  2 150 3 307 1 674 2 948 

 Total 26 922 19 485 22 801 19 021 

 

The Group sold the factory buildings in the first quarter of 2017. At the same time, the Group signed 15-year 

lease agreements, explaining the cost of rent in 2017. 
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The Group has reduced other operating expenses of TNOK 2 909 as a result of the recognition of public grants 

from the Skattefunn, Enova and the Research Council. 

!ǳŘƛǘƻǊΩǎ ŦŜŜs Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

Audit fees 697 657 625 608 

Tax advice 82 33 79 30 

Audit related services 205 311 201 311 

Other services and confirmations 166 175 156 175 

Total  1 150 1 176 1 061 1 124 

 
VAT is not included. 
       

 

Salaries Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          
 Salaries 24 757 16 235 20 295 13 412 

 Share-based payments  0 187 0 187 

 Social security costs  2 883 2 103 2 573 1 887 

 Pension costs  1 313 1 192 1 053 965 

 Other employee benefits  554 265 479 235 

 Capitalized cost in associated with development  -3 379 -2 209 -3 379 -2 209 

 Totale employee benefit expenses 26 127 17 773 21 021 14 477 

      

!ǾŜǊŀƎŜ ƴǳƳōŜǊ ƻŦ C¢9Ωǎ 39 28 32 22 
 

The parent company and the Group have a statutory obligation to offer an approved pension plan, and offers 

a plan that meets the requirements of this Act. Contributions of KNOK 1 313 have been expensed in the Group 

in 2017 (2016: KNOK 1 192), and KNOK 1 053(KNOK 965 in 2016) in the parent company. 
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 Remuneration to executive 
management team and the 
board  Salary 

Other 
remuner-

ation 
Pension 

cost 

Share 
based 

payment 

Total 
remune-

ration 

Total 
remune-

ration 

Figures in NOK 1000, Group 2017 2016 

Executive management             

Roger Hofseth, 
CEO from 14.08.17. 
Chairman up until 14.09.17* 

92 0 0 240 332        392  

Tor Erik Andersen, CEO up 
until 13.08.17 

1 132 14 57 0 1 203 1 292 

Jon Olav Ødegård, CFO 1 539 35 77 0 1 651 1 734 

Dr. Bomi Framroze, CSO** 1 151 0 0 2 532 3 683 3 870 

  
The Board of Directors 

            

Ola Holen, Chairman from 
15.09.17 

35 0 0 0 35 0 

Torill Standal Eliassen  114 0 0 0 114 88 

Christoph Baldegger 96 0 0 0 96 88 

Henriette Godø Heggdal*** 845 9 42 0 896 880 

Marit Liland Sandvold up 
until 26.5.16 

0 0 0 0 0 53 

Bjørn Tunheim up until 
26.5.16 

0 0 0 0 0 45 

 Total  5 243 2 590 176 0 8 009 8 537 

 *  Includes remunerated as external consultant. 
* *  Includes fee for operating R&D. R&D share amounted to TNOK 2 532 in 2017 and TNOK 2 712 in 2016. 
** *  Includes salary paid in capasity of beeing an employee of the Company. 
 

No loans or guarantees are granted to members of the management team, Board of Directors or other 

elected bodies. Total loans to shareholders and employees amount to TNOK 1 160 at 31 December 2017 

(TNOK 0 as of 31 December 2016). The agreed interest rate is 3-4% per annum and maturity 2018-2024. 
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Number of shares held by executive management and board members:  

Shareholder Shares 

Held by 
related 

companies 

Held by 
related 
parties Total 

          

 Roger Hofseth 0 83 661 981 0 83 661 981 

 Tor Erik Andersen 804 057 1 064 285 0 1 868 342 

 Jon Olav Ødegård 0 2 104 039 180 000 2 284 039 

 Dr. Bomi Framroze  786 630 0 0 786 630 

 Christoph Baldegger 580 000 0 0 580 000 

 Ola Holen 449 505 47 055 507 0 47 505 012 

 Total  2 620 192 133 885 812 180 000 136 686 004 

 

Hofseth BioCare !{!Ωs executive remuneration policy is to offer senior executives employment conditions 

which are competitive regarding salaries, fringe benefits, bonus and pension scheme. The Company shall offer 

salary levels that are comparable with similar companies and activities, and considering the company's need 

for qualified staff at all levels. 

The salary and other remuneration to senior executives shall at all times be determined in accordance with 

the above stated principle. 

The bonus to the CEO is determined by the Chairman of the Board. Bonuses for other senior executives are 

determined by the CEO in consultation with the Chairman of the Board. No bonus payments have been made 

in 2017. 

The Group has complied with the guidelines in 2017. For fiscal year 2018 no changes have been made to 

current guidelines. 

In case Hofseth BioCare chooses to terminate the employment relationship with the CEO, no right to severance 

payment has been agreed. In the event employment of other senior executives is terminated by the company, 

there are no agreements entitling them to severance payments beyond salary during the notice period for the 

number of months as stipulated in the Norwegian employment act. 

After the former CEO resigned from his position, he had salaries in the notice period up until 30.11.2017. 

The company had a stock option program applicable to the former CEO. He was allocated 450,000 options as 

at 31 December 2016, with a redemption price of NOK 7.00 and options could be exercised on expiration 

date 13.12.2018. 

The fair value of the options was settled at the date of allocation and expensed over the vesting period. In 

2017, TNOK 0 was expensed (TNOK 187 in 2016). The share options were terminated when the CEO resigned 

14.08.2017. 

The fair value of the options granted was calculated using the Black-Scholes-Merton pricing model. There 

were limited data for own stock price, due to the small stock history of the company, and one has used 

guidelines in IFRS 2 to calculate expected volatility. Expected volatility was based on historical volatility on 

the following similar companies listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange: Pronovo, BioPharma, Aker BioMarine and 

Copeinca.  
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The Group's related parties include shareholders, board members and the senior management and their 

related parties. All companies in Hofseth Group, including Roger Hofseth AS, Hofseth International AS, Hofseth 

Logistics AS, Seafood Farmers of Norway AS, Hofseth AS, Hofseth Aalesund AS and Hofseth Aqua AS are 

considered to be related parties to Hofseth BioCare ASA. In these companies, CEO and shareholder in Hofseth 

Biocare ASA, Roger Hofseth, has significant influence through ownership interests, leading positions and board 

memberships. Futher is the Group`s shareholder Alliance Seafoods Inc. including their subsidiary Syvde 

Eiendom AS considered a related party. 

All related party transactions have been made in the ordinary course of the business at the arms length 

principle.  The main transactions made in 2017: 

¶ Purchase of raw materials from Hofseth Aalesund AS, Hofseth AS and Seafood Farmers of Norway AS. 
See further details of the agreement below.  

¶ The Group leases logistics services from Hofseth Logistics AS at a cost of TNOK 3 600 per year. 

¶ 3 ƻŦ ǘƘŜ /ƻƳǇŀƴȅΩs financial lease agreements running in 2017, are entered into by Hofseth AS, 
Hofseth International AS and Roger Hofseth AS and invoiced Hofseth BioCare ASA. 

¶ Roger Hofseth AS has issued guarantees for loans to Hofseth BioCare ASA. Hence, a guarantee 
provision has been paid to Roger Hofseth AS. In 2017 this var TNOK 777(3%) 

¶ Other minor administrative fees invoiced from Hofseth International AS. 

¶ A sales commission to Hofseth AS is agreed upon, of 5-10% for som of the sales that Hofset BioCare 
ASA makes Hofseth AS and Hofseth International ASΩ sales channels.  

¶ Hofseth AS has converted TNOK 15 000 of accounts payable into a responsible loan. The loan has a 
maturity of 5 years and has a interest rate of nibor + 4.5% per annum. 

¶ Alliance Seafood Inc. has a loan to the Group with balance KNOK 10 206 per 31.12.17. The loan expires 
30.09.22 and has a fixed interest rate of 4%. 

¶ The Group has sold the factory buildings at Midsund and Berkåk to Syvde Eiendom AS for a 
consideration of TNOK 80 000. Estimated gain on sales is recognized in the income statement with 
TNOK 52 242 on the Group, and TNOK 30 721 on parent company. 

¶ Alliance Seafoods Inc. has bought goods for a value of TNOK 24 379 in 2017. 

¶ Roger Hofseth AS has bought goods for a value of TNOK 4 762 in 2017. 

¶ The Group leases factory buildings at Midsund and Berkåk from Syvde Eiendom AS at a cost of TNOK 
7 200 per year. 
 

The statement of profit and loss and the balance sheet include following related party transactions:  

Balance sheet items Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 Machines and equipment (leasing)  9 713 13 916 9 713 13 916 

 Trade receivables 17 043 640 16 842 640 

 Accured revenues 1 878 0 1 878 0 

 Loan from shareholders -25 206 -32 531 -25 206 -32 531 

 Leasing liabilities -6 900 -10 356 -6 900 -10 356 

 Trade payables -37 691 -4 224 -37 691 -4 224 

 Other current liabilities  -1 097 -324 -1 097 -324 

 Total  -42 260 -32 878 -42 641 -32 878 
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Profit and loss items Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 Sales revenue  31 610 657 31 410 657 

 Other operating expenses  52 242 0 30 721 0 

 Total revenue 83 852 657 62 131 657 

      

 Cost of sales  37 372 5 523 37 372 5 523 

 Other operating expenses  7 282 1 520 7 282 1 520 

 Financial expenses 1 123 3 097 1 123 3 097 

 Total costs  45 778 10 140 45 778 10 140 

 

The raw material agreement between the Group, Hofseth AS and Seafood Farmers of Norway AS was 

implemented in 2015. The agreement terms are three years from commencement and the Group has the 

exclusive right to take delivery of all by-products from the production that takes place in Hofseth AS, Seafood 

Farmers of Norway AS and any other subsidiary of Hofseth International AS which potentially joins the 

agreement at a later stage. It is estimated that Group will take delivery of up to 30 000 tonnes of by-products 

during the agreement period. If the Group has not claimed all the quantity during the contract period, the 

Group has the right to extend the contract period until the entire quantity has been taken out.  

 

 

Financial income Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 Interest income  100 381 92 380 

 Reversal impairment of financial fixed assets 0 0 2 288 0 

 Gain from the buy back of Bonds 0 4 193 0 4 193 

 Foreign exchange gains 965 4 275 965 4 275 

 Total  1 065 8 850 3 344 8 849 

 

Financial expenses Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 Interest expenses  3 323 10 349 3 521 9 424 

 Impairment of financial assets 0 0 0 4 834 

 Warranty provision 777 892 777 892 

 Foreign exchange losses 2 251 504 2 249 503 

 Total  6 351 11 746 6 538 15 653 
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Income taxes Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 Income tax expense         

 Change in deferred tax  0 0 0 0 

 Tax expense 0 0 0 0 

      
 Calculation of taxable result      
 Loss before tax  -16 482 -147 459 -36 168 -146 182 

 Permanent differences  -3 528 3 809 -3 528 3 809 

 Change in temporary differences  -52 856 -9 276 -39 818 -8 997 

 Taxable result  -72 867 -152 926 -79 515 -151 370 

      

 Temporary differences      

 Fixed assets 20 838 24 165 18 608 21 981 

 Loss carry forward  -529 005 -458 426 -515 554 -436 039 

 Other temporary differences  29 262 -26 922 16 269 -26 922 

 Total  -478 905 -461 183 -480 677 -440 980 

        

 Calculated deferred tax asset 23% (24% in 2016)  -110 148 -110 684 -110 556 -105 835 

          
 Deferred tax assets are not recognised in the balance sheet.  

  
  
  

          

          

          

Reconcilitation of tax expense Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

 Loss before tax -16 482         -147 459  -36 168      -146 182  

 Tax on loss 23% (24% in 2016) -3 956        -36 865  -8 680         -36 546  

 Permanent differences  -847                952  -847               952  

 Deferred tax asset, not recognised  407            31 442  4 720           31 184  

 Effect of change in tax rate  4 395      4 471  4 807             4 410  

 Total tax expense 0 0 0 0 
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The GroupΩǎ ŜŀǊƴƛƴƎǎ ǇŜǊ ǎƘŀǊŜ ŀǊŜ ŎŀƭŎǳƭŀǘŜŘ ōȅ ŘƛǾƛŘƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ǇǊƻŦƛǘ ŦƻǊ ǘƘŜ ȅŜŀǊ ŀǘǘǊƛōǳǘŀōƭŜ ǘƻ ǎƘŀǊŜ ƘƻƭŘŜǊǎ 

of MNOK -16.5 (2016: MNOK -147.5) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year, 

233.5 mill. shares (2016: 145.7 mill. shares). 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the share holders by the 

weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of shares 

that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential shares into ordinary shares.  

Earnings per share Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 Profit attributable to share holders  -16 482 -147 459 -36 168 -146 182 

      
 Weighted average number of shares outstanding  233 500 145 684 233 500 145 684 

 Effect of dilution from share options 0 450 0 450 
 Weighted average number of shares outstanding 
adjusted for the effect of dilution  233 500 146 134 233 500 146 134 

      
 Earnings per share     
 -ordinary -0.07 -1.01 -0.15 -1.00 

 -diluted  -0.07 -1.01 -0.15 -1.00 
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2016 
Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 
1000 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 

Machin-
ery and 
equip-
ment 

Fixtures 
and 
fittings Total 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 

Machines 
and 
equip-
ment 

Fixtures 
and 
fittings Total 

                  

Cost at 01.01.2016  28 482 96 204 7 288 131 974 19 412 88 780 7 218 115 410 

Additions  3 781 34 056 1 430 39 267 4 331 34 271 1 430 38 933 

Cost at 31.12.2016  32 263 130 260 8 718 171 241 23 743 123 051 8 648 155 443 

Depreciation at 
01.01.2016  

3 628 41 096 5 535 50 259 2 540 39 562 5 464 47 566 

Depreciation 1 032 14 595 674 16 302 669 14 087 674 15 431 

Depreciation at 
31.12.2016  

4 660 55 691 6 209 66 561 3 209 53 649 6 138 62 997 

Book value at 
31.12.2016  

27 605 74 569 2 509 104 683 20 535 69 403 2 510 92 448 

Economic life  
 25-40 
years  

 5-10 
years  

 3-10 
years  

   40 years  
 5-10 
years  

 3-10 
years 

  
  

Method of 
depreciaton  

 Straight line 
depreciation  

Straight line 
depreciation 

Straight line 
depreciation 

  
 Straight line 
depreciation  

Straight line 
depreciation 

Straight line 
depreciation 

  

                 

2017 Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 
1000 

Property, 
plant and 
equip-
ment 

Machiner
y and 
equip-
ment 

Fixtures 
and 
fittings Total 

Property, 
plant and 
equipment 

Machines 
and 
equip-
ment 

Fixtures 
and 
fittings Total 

                  

Cost at 01.01.2017  32 263 130 260 8 718 171 241 23 743 123 051 8 648 155 443 

Additions  0 9 810 110 9 920 0 9 491 110 9 601 

Sold -32 263 0 0 0 -23 743 0 0 0 

Cost at 31.12.2017  0 140 070 8 828 148 898 0 132 543 8 758 141 301 

Depreciation at 
01.01.2017 

4 660 55 691 6 209 66 561 3 209 53 649 6 138 62 997 

Depreciation 285 17 909 995 19 189 194 17 346 995 18 535 

Sold -4 945 0 0 27 320 -3 403 0 0 20 341 

Depreciation at 
31.12.2017  

0 73 600 7 205 80 805 0 70 995 7 134 78 129 

Book value at 
31.12.2017  

0 66 492 1 597 68 089 0 61 570 1 597 63 167 

Economic life  
 25-40 
years  

 5-10 
years  

 3-10 
years  

   40 years  
 5-10 
years  

 3-10 
years 

  
  

Method of 
depreciaton 

 Straight line 
depreciation  

Straight line 
depreciation 

Straight line 
depreciation 

  
 Straight line 
depreciation  

Straight line 
depreciation 

Straight line 
depreciation 

  

 

In 2017, the Group sold the factory buildings at Midsund and Berkåk for TNOK 80 000 to Syvde Eiendom AS, 

which is related partie to the shareholder Alliance Seafoods Inc. The sale resulted in an accounting gain of 

TNOK 52 242 in the consolidated accounts and TNOK 30 721 in the company accounts. See Note 2 and Note 

11 about the Group's and the Company's leases. 
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The company has placed assets as collateral for loan. See note 17 for further details.   

The companyΩǎ assets under finance leases include machinery and equipment. In addition to lease payments, 

the company is obliged to maintain and secure the equipment. The terms of the leases are in the range of 3-7 

years, and a majority of the leases include a right of renewal. At the end of the original period, the machinery 

and equipment can be subleased at 1/12 of the original lease payment. The company may also require to 

purchase the equipment. 

Assets under finance leases include: 

  Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2016 2015 2016 2015 

          

 Machinery and equipment  18 222 24 357 18 222 24 357 

 Depreciation  -5 336 -6 161 -5 336 -6 161 

 Net booked value 12 886 18 196 12 886 18 196 

      
 Maturity of minimum lease payments      
      
  1 year  4 247 5 718 4 247 5 718 

 1 - 5 years  6 921 11 169 6 921 11 169 

  5 years  0 0 0 0 

 Total  11 169 16 886 11 169 16 886 

Average interest rate  6,9% 6,9% 6,9% 6,9% 

 Net present value  10 118 14 486 10 118 14 486 

 Of which      
  1 years  3 606 3 492 3 606 3 492 

 1 - 5 years  6 512 11 356 6 512 11 356 
 

The company has several operating leases of fixtures and fittings, cars and trucks.  Most of the leases include 

a right of renewal. 

Ordinary lease payments under operating leases amounted to the following: 

  Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 Ordinary lease payments  927 1 859 927 1 859 

 Total  927 1 859 927 1 859 

      
Summary of future minimum lease payments     
      
  1 year  866 1 019 866 1 019 

 1 - 5 years  1 198 1 778 1 198 1 778 

  5 years  0 0 0 0 

 Total 2 065 2 797 2 065 2 797 
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The company has entered into lease agreements for the factory buildings at Midsund and Berkåk. The leases 

are both in 15 years. Ordinary rent payments on operating leases factory buildings were as follows: 

  Group Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 2017 2016 2017 2016 

          

 Ordinary lease payments  5 400 0 3 476 0 

 Total  5 400 0 3 476 0 

      
Summary of future minimum lease payments     
      
  1 year  7 200 0 4 635 0 

 1 - 5 years  28 800 0 18 540 0 

  5 years  66 600 0 42 874 0 

 Total 102 600 0 66 049 0 

 

2016 Group and Parent 

Figures in NOK 1000 R&D Trademarks Patents  Other Total Goodwill 

               

Cost at 01.01.2016 16 116 133 3 671  2 527 22 447 7 458 

Additions  0 0 0  72 72 0 

Internally developed  3 248 0 0  0 3 248 0 

Cost at 31.12.2016 19 364 133 3 671  2 599 25 767 7 458 

Depreciation at 01.01.2016 3 980 81 1 506  1 633 10 700 0 

Disposal  0 0 0  0 0 0 

Depreciation charge of the year  1 593 27 367  282 2 268 0 

Impairment  72 0 0  0 72 7 458 

Depreciation at 31.12.2016 5 644 108 1 873  1 915 9 540 7 458 

Net book value at 31.12.2016  13 720 27 1 798  685 16 229 0 

Economic life   10 years  5 years   10 years    5 years   5-10 years     

Method of depreciaton 
 Straight line 
depreciation 

Straight line 
depreciation 

 Straight line 
depreciation 

 
Straight line 
depreciation 

Straight line 
depreciation   

 

 

 

 




